
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Audit Board

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Wednesday 11 January 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor D Swinerd



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT BOARD

 AGENDA

Wednesday 11 January 2017

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Declarations of Interest. 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members including 
the terms(s) of any Grants of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 
September 2016 

MD
(Pages 1 - 12)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda.

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. References from Other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are presently no references from other Committees. 

6. External Audit Update 
(Pages 13 - 42)

To present to the Board the Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 and the 
Audit Update 2016/17 issued by Grant Thornton (attached as 
Appendices A and B respectively).  

7. External Audit - Certification Work Report 2015/16 
(Pages 43 - 48)

To note the contents of the External Auditor’s 2015/16 
Certification Letter, attached as Appendix A to the report.

8. Counter Fraud Team Update Report 
(Pages 49 - 54)

This report provides Board Members with details of the work 
carried out by the new Counter Fraud Team from 1 February 
2016, following the transfer of Housing Benefit fraud work to the 



Department for Work & Pensions (DWP) in January 2016.

9. Progress Report on Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 
(Pages 55 - 60)

This report provides Members of the Board with information 
regarding the progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering 
the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2016/17.

10. Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress 
Report (Pages 61 - 78)

This report is to update Members on progress of the 
implementation of recommendations agreed with Management 
during this year, and to report on outstanding recommendations 
due for implementation by 30 November 2016.

11. Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board 
(Pages 79 - 92)

This report is to inform Audit Board Members of the outcomes of 
the audits completed since the previous report to the Board on 21 
September 2016 and to provide Members with the opportunity to 
request clarification or further information, if considered 
necessary.

12. Selective Invoice Checks 
(Pages 93 - 96)

During the September 2016 meeting of the Board, Members 
selected five (5) creditor payments for checking. This report 
summarises the findings of that exercise and provides the 
opportunity for Members to select further payments for audit 
checking.

13. Future Appointment of External Auditors 
(Pages 97 - 

100)

This report provides an update on the arrangements for 
appointing external auditors following the decision of the General 
Assembly of the Council on 12 December 2016 to opt in to the 
sector-led procurement approach.

14. Whistleblowing Policy Update 2016 
(Pages 101 - 

114)

The Council’s Whistleblowing Policy is subject to annual review 
by the Audit Board as the appropriate Committee.

This report sets out the proposed amendments to the Council’s 



existing Whistleblowing Policy as approved by the Board in 
January 2015 [Min. No. 42 refers]. The report has taken into 
consideration the views of users of the Policy. 

15. Strategic Risk Register 
(Pages 115 - 

144)

This report presents the latest Strategic Risk Register which 
highlights the strategic risks facing the Council and the 
mitigations in place to manage those risks. 

16. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary and Prejudicial 
Interests (Pages 145 - 

148)

To note the declarations of disclosable pecuniary and prejudicial 
interests made by Members in accordance with Standing Order 
19 for the period 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016.

17. CIPFA Training Workshop 

To receive proposals from the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) for Board Members to participate in a CIPFA 
(Chartered Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy) training 
Workshop, together with Members from Sevenoaks Council’s 
Audit Committee. 





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

AUDIT BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Audit Board held on Wednesday 21 September 
2016 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor D A Hammock (Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor J M Ozog (Substitute)
Councillor D Swinerd

ABSENT: Councillor Mrs J A Ozog

IN ATTENDANCE: Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Marie Kelly-
Stone

– Head of Legal Services & Deputy 
Monitoring Officer

Tim Sams – Financial Services Manager
Liz Jackson – Grant Thornton UK, LLP
Matthew Dean – Grant Thornton

16. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

The Chairman relayed apologies from Councillor Mrs Julie Ozog and 
confirmed that Cllr. Jan Ozog was attending the Board as a Substitute.

Liz Jackson and her colleague Matthew Dean from Grant Thornton UK 
[External Auditors] were welcomed to the meeting and Mrs Jackson 
congratulated on her recent marriage. 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) the Head of Legal Services and the 
Financial Services Manager were also welcomed to the proceedings.

The Chairman advised that there was an ‘Urgent’ item for consideration by the 
Board [Item 4] but proposed that it be taken after Items 6 and 7 in the 
published agenda [to be presented by the Head of Legal Services].

The Board agreed to the proposed change in the order of published business.

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were no declarations of interest.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

2

18. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 JUNE 
2016 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Audit Board meeting held 29 June 2016 be confirmed 
as accurate. 

19. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES [IF ANY] 

There were no references from other Committees for the Board to consider.

20. ANNUAL REPORT 2015/2016 OF THE MONITORING OFFICER ON THE 
REVIEW OF ETHICAL GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND 
ANCILLARY MATTERS 

The report, which had been marked as ‘To-Follow’ in the published agenda 
[page 6] was ‘tabled’ for consideration by the Board that evening. Members 
were asked to endorse the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report 2015/16 on the 
Review of Ethical Governance Arrangements and ancillary matters, as set out 
in Appendix A.

The Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer reminded the Board 
that the report was a standard item considered each year and that the format 
of the report remained unchanged.

In response to a specific request from the Vice-Chairman to summarise the 
salient points in the 2015/16 report, she briefly advised Members of relevant 
new legislative requirements regarding the Council’s Constitution, anti-slavery 
obligations [Modern Slavery Act 2015] and impending changes to the Data 
Protection Act 1998. The Government’s Brexit negotiations [when concluded] 
would be likely to further impact on current legislation. 

Members were advised that the Review had encountered two areas of 
concern regarding, respectively, out of date Parish Council websites and the 
need to ‘chase’ one Parish Council for its DPI registration forms. These issues 
had caused difficulties in the collation of accurate data regarding DPIs 
(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) for serving Parish Members. The Head of 
Legal Services explained that the late submission of DPI forms to the 
Monitoring Officer had been resolved and that it was the responsibility of 
Parish Clerks to maintain accurate Parish Council records, including websites. 
Members suggested that this message be re-enforced to Parish Clerks at the 
next Parish & Borough Forum [11 October 2016]. 

The Head of Legal Services added that; there appeared to be a measure of 
confusion amongst Members as to what properly constituted a DPI. If any 
Member was in doubt over a specific interest they should seek advice from 
the Monitoring Officer or herself as Deputy Monitoring Officer or in their joint 
absence, the Member Services Manager.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

3

The Shadow Leader advised that he felt he had been unable to properly 
digest the contents of the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report for 2015/16 as 
tabled that evening. He held no concerns over its accuracy and 
comprehensive nature, but as Shadow Leader and Chairman of the Scrutiny 
Committee, he needed more time to fully consider the papers and properly 
comment as appropriate.

The Chairman noted the Shadow Leader’s concerns in light of which, the 
Board RESOLVED:

(i) That endorsement by the Board of the Monitoring Officer’s Annual 
Report 2015/16 on the Review of Ethical Governance Arrangements 
and ancillary matters (as set out in Appendix A to the covering report) 
be deferred for 14 working days from the date of the meeting [until 11 
October 2016] pending any written representations from the Shadow 
Leader of the Council;

(ii) That in the absence of written representations from the Shadow Leader 
[within 14 working days from the date of the Board], the report be 
considered as endorsed and that that status be formally confirmed at 
the next meeting of the Board in January 2017.

21. COMPLAINTS MONITORING AND PROCEDURE REVIEW - 2015 / 2016 

The report and Appendices provided Board Members with information on the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure, including the number and nature 
of complaints received in respect of the services provided by the Council, 
during the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016.

The Head of Legal Services advised that the report was another standard 
item presented each year.  She advised that there were no updates to the 
information provided on agenda pages 40 and 41 and offered to take 
questions.

The Shadow Leader asked, with specific regard to process and lessons to be 
learnt from complaint handling [report para.3.20 (f) agenda p.23] what role 
Members played with regard to policy change.

The Chairman gave as an example of Member involvement in the Council’s 
complaints process and possible impact on policy; his own role as ‘designated 
person’ for the Council in the resolution of complaints relating to the Council’s 
function as landlord. As ‘designated person’ the Chairman sought to resolve 
issues at the local level prior to referral to the Housing Ombudsman. 
Following his consideration of a recent housing complaint, he had asked 
Officers to amend an ambiguous housing form. 

The Head of Legal Services confirmed the Chairman’s role as the Council’s 
‘designated person’ for Housing landlord related complaints and advised that 
the 2016/17 complaints procedure review report would include information on 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

4

how the information from complaints is used to improve working practices 
and/or policy.

The Shadow Leader expressed his surprise that only 2 (two) housing 
complaints had been recorded in the period under review [table agenda p.22 
– report para. 3.20 (c)] this seemed low in the context of his own constituency 
work ‘In-tray’.

The Chairman explained that only 2 complaints had been referred to the 
Housing Ombudsman in 2015/16. The vast majority of housing complaints 
were resolved by the Housing Department at Stage 1 level, or failing that, 
referred to a separate Council Department for Stage 2 resolution. If the 
complainant was still not satisfied following the Stage 2 decision, they were 
referred to Councillor Hammock as the Council’s ‘designated person’, 
together with the contact details of the Housing Ombudsman. Complainants 
could then choose to approach the ‘designated person’ immediately following 
Stage 2, or wait 8 weeks from the date of the Stage 2 decision and take the 
matter direct to the Housing Ombudsman. If the ‘designated person’ considers 
and rejects the complaint against the Council, the complainant may still 
approach the Housing Ombudsman within the 8 week period following the 
Stage 2 decision.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Complaints Monitoring and Procedure Review – 2015/16 
report and Appendices be endorsed;

2. That the Head of Legal Services be thanked for her further 
explanations in support of her comprehensive report. 

   

22. URGENT ITEM - DETECTION OF COUNCIL TAX FRAUD BY AGENCY 
STAFF IN THE COUNCIL'S JOINT REVENUE & BENEFITS SECTION 

The Chairman advised Board Members that the Staff Manager for the 
Council’s joint Revenue & Benefits Section operation with Sevenoaks Council 
had detected an incident of Council Tax fraud amounting to £2K committed by 
a temporary staff member recruited from an agency. 

Press coverage of the crime had reported fraud amounting to some £90K with 
the intimation that the Council had been the sole victim. However, subsequent 
enquiries with other local authorities [who had previously employed the culprit] 
revealed that Hackney Council in London had been the major victim and that 
the Council had only suffered losses amounting to £2K. The Leader of the 
Council had immediately issued a Press Statement to this effect to counter 
the misleading press article and help repair the Council’s reputation in the 
eyes of the Dartford public.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

5

As a result of the fraud detection, the Council had tightened up its security 
checks for both agency and permanent staff and agency staff no longer 
worked in the Revenue & Benefits Section. The Section’s Staff Manager had 
been thanked by the Managing Director and the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) for his vigilance and prompt action in saving the Council from further 
financial losses.

In response to subsequent specific questions from Board Members the 
Chairman and the Strategic Director (IS) confirmed the following points:

 There was no recourse to be obtained from the recruitment agency for 
failing to properly vet its client(s) before appointment by the Council;

 It was the responsibility of the Council to ensure that agencies had 
undertaken all appropriate checks of candidates prior to appointment 
by the Council and Officers were reviewing procedures in this regard;

 The Council would also be undertaking its own checks in the future, for 
both agency and permanent staff, to ensure applicants had the legal 
right to work in the U.K. and did not hold a criminal record;

 Agency staff no longer worked in the Revenue & Benefits Section;
 The bona-fides of agency staff working in other Sections of the Council 

were in the process of being confirmed;
 A report would be submitted to a future meeting of the Board updating 

Members on the action that had been undertaken to verify the bona-
fides of agency staff currently employed by the Council, in addition to 
detailing action taken by the Council with recruitment agencies  to 
ensure that any and all candidates referred to the Council for 
employment had been properly vetted by the agencies beforehand;

 The Council had worked with Kent Police to obtain a 2 year conviction 
of the offender for the offence committed in Dartford.

The Shadow Leader asked:

(i) Why all Councillors were not being briefed by the Audit Board 
Chairman;

(ii) Why the Audit Board, as the due body, had not considered the topic 
prior to the Press Statement being released by the Leader of the 
Council, which had effectively pre-empted the Board’s view of the 
incident and any recommendations it might have made.

The Chairman advised that the Leader’s Press Statement had been required 
to issue as soon as possible, to re-but the misleading press article that had  
intimated that Dartford Council had suffered a £90K fraud, and get into the 
public domain the fact that the Council’s loss was ‘only’ £2K.  

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed that:

(i) Cabinet had been advised of the fraud as part of the council tax write-
off report considered at the meeting held on 8 September 2016 and 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

6

that the Minutes [Cabinet Min. No. 45 refers] reflected the action taken 
and were available to all Members;

(ii) Early release of the Leader’s Press Statement had been required to 
refute the £90K loss to the Council intimated in the misleading press 
article.

The Cabinet Member for Strategic Council Finances proposed that a report be 
presented to a future meeting of the Board, for Members’ consideration, once 
proportionate new measures had been put in place and tested by Officers to 
ensure that all agency and permanent staff employed by the Council were 
properly vetted.

Liz Jackson confirmed to the Board that Grant Thornton UK, as the Council’s 
External Auditor, had been made aware of the fraud by the SD (IS) and that 
the immediate action undertaken by the Council had been good.  A report 
back to the Board confirming that new processes had been put in place would 
also be appropriate in terms of good governance.

RESOLVED:

1. That a report be submitted to a future meeting of the Audit Board 
confirming that new procedures had been put in place by the Council 
and tested, to ensure that all agency and permanent staff employed by 
the Authority had been properly vetted, both by the Council and by 
agencies proposing candidates for employment by the Council whether 
on a temporary or permanent basis.

23. REPORT FROM THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

The covering report from the Financial Services Manager (FSM) informed the 
Audit Board that the External Auditor had completed the audit of the Council’s 
2015/16 Accounts and that her ‘Audit Findings’ report was presented to 
Members for consideration (attached as Appendix A to the covering report). 
Members were also asked to approve the Letter of Representation attached 
as Appendix B.

Liz Jackson, Engagement Lead, Grant Thornton, UK advised Board Members 
that her ‘Audit Findings’ report proposed an unqualified opinion in respect of 
the Council’s 2015/16 Accounts and value for money (VfM) conclusion, that 
no misstatements had been identified in the Accounts. The report made two 
recommendations, one related to bank reconciliations which had been 
implemented, the second recommendation related to the Council’s Financial 
Plans. The External Auditor had pointed out that the recommendation was not 
specific to Dartford Council but reflected the reducing central government 
grant for all local authorities in England and Wales.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

7

The Chairman endorsed the comments of the External Auditor and asked that 
the appreciation of the Audit Board be passed to the Council’s finance team 
by the FSM.  

RESOLVED: 

1. That the Audit Board Members noted and welcomed the intention of 
the External Auditor to issue an unqualified opinion on both the 
Financial Statements for 2015/16 and the Value for Money (VfM) 
Conclusion as set out in Appendix A to the report;

2. That Board Members approved the Letter of Representation attached 
as Appendix B to the report;

3. That the Board’s appreciation of the efforts of the Council’s finance 
staff in the preparation of the 2015/16 Accounts be relayed by senior 
managers present.

24. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS) 2015/16 

The report presented to the Audit Board the Council’s Statement of Accounts 
for the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2016. 

Board Members were asked to adopt, approve the publication of, and 
authorise for issue, the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts as a formal 
requirement to enable the External Auditor to issue her unqualified opinion on 
both the Accounts and the Value for Money (VfM) Conclusion, as set out in 
the previous agenda item [Min. No. 23 refers].

The Financial Services Manager (FSM) reminded Members that the 
Statement of Accounts was prepared in accordance with ‘proper accounting 
practice’ i.e. with regard to all the accounting rules issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting. Those Accounting rules differed from the statutory regulations 
that the Council was required to follow; the local authority accounts 
demonstrated how the two regimes were reconciled. Adherence to the 
accounting rules ensured consistency between years and between 
organisations.

Members were advised that the Accounts were complex and comprised off a 
few core statements supported by several “disclosure notices”. The FSM drew 
out the following more important elements of the 2015/16 Accounts for 
Members: 

 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
[agenda p.119] effectively showed the surplus of deficit (using proper 
accounting practices) for all the services provided by the Council 
including council housing;



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

8

 The CIES showed an “accounting” surplus for 2015/16 of £51.3M most 
of which comprised unrealised gains represented within the unusable 
reserves. A significant part of the surplus was due to property 
revaluations also reflected in the unusable reserves plus a positive 
adjustment to the pensions reserve due to a change in valuation;

 Reconciliation of the CIES with the reserve balances on the Council’s 
statutory General Fund at year end [31 March 2016] was reflected in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) [agenda p.117];

 The CIES comprised both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue 
Account these were shown separately in the MIRS which started from 
opening balances as at 31 March 2015 then the surplus (or deficit) line 
on the provision of services from the CIES which totalled £11.7M in 
reserves for 2015/16;

 The MIRS then adjusted the surplus figure with a line of Adjustments 
[between accounting and funding basis] which needed to be reversed 
out. The main accounting adjustments that had been required were to 
the cost of using assets (depreciation and impairment), revaluations 
and the different way pensions were treated between accounting and 
the General Fund;

 The position of the General Fund had been reported to Cabinet in July 
[Min. No. 25] with no subsequent changes to that position as set out in 
the Narrative Statement for the Accounts [agenda p.98 and 99];

 The MIRS showed that the Council had a total of £38M in usable 
reserves of which £4M was specifically for capital, £12M related to 
housing and £17.6M for the General Reserve;

 The increase in general reserves had derived in the main from gains 
from business rates of £780K from 2014/15, £1.1M from 2015/16 and a 
timing difference of £1.6M held in a business rate stability fund. It was 
expected that the increases in general reserves would be used to fund 
the deficit payment for 2017/18. In addition, the 2015/16 revenue 
outturn position meant that the Council did not now need to make the 
planned new homes bonus withdrawal from reserves to support the 
revenue position;

 The Balance Sheet [agenda p.120] showed the assets and liabilities of 
the Council at 31 March 2016. The main elements to be drawn out of 
the Balance Sheet included; (i) a significant increase in the value of 
Property, Plant and Equipment following professional revaluations of 
the Council’s Housing stock and an increase in local house prices 
during the period under review; (ii) a decrease in the pension liability of 
£4M due changes in financial assumptions by the Council’s actuary;

 The Cash Flow Statement [agenda p.121] showed the changes in cash 
and cash equivalents for the Authority in the period under review 
resulting in an increase of £7.1M;

 The HRA debt continued to be paid down each year and now stood at 
£69M down from the initial Government loan of £87M;

 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) [agenda p.187] showed an 
accounting surplus of £9.5M for 2015/16, offset by accounting 
Adjustments of £7.8M resulting in a balance on the Statutory HRA of 
£11.7M.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

9

In response to a specific question from the Shadow Leader concerning the 
£5M reduction recorded in the Council’s HRA loan, the Chairman advised that 
the Treasury Management Panel closely monitored the Council’s HRA loan 
arrangements. 

The Shadow Leader asked how the Council’s useable reserves, totalling 
some £26M for general use and £11.7M for housing and considered to be 
‘prudent and adequate’ [agenda p. 102] were managed and what 
considerations were applied to that management process e.g. formulaic, 
mechanistic or subjective. 

The FSM advised that the Council’s management of adequate levels of 
usable reserves required the judgement of several different risk factors 
affecting the day-to-day operation of the Authority as a whole. The Council 
had previously set a minimum level of useable reserves of £2M, had 
increased that to £2.5M and that the level of the general reserve held was 
now above minimum at £3M. 

The Shadow Leader expressed his concern over the lack of clarity concerning 
Business Rate income post 2020. He asked whether there was not a case for 
releasing general reserves now, to help meet Council objectives.

Liz Jackson, External Audit Manager (Grant Thornton) advised that the 
disbursement of the Council’s useable reserves was addressed in her Value 
for Money (VfM) Conclusion [agenda Item 8 Section 3 pages 75-78]. 

The Cabinet Member for Strategic Council Finances advised that he held 
regular conversations with the Leader and other Cabinet Members concerning 
the prudent use of the Council’s useable reserves in the continuing volatile 
financial climate including future prospects post Brexit and the likelihood of 
continued cuts in funding from central government. The notion that the 
Council should simply spend reserves it had today to expand service delivery 
without concern for the future fiscal climate would be neither prudent nor 
responsible.

RESOLVED:

1. That Audit Board Members adopted, approved for publication and 
authorised for issue, the Council’s 2015/16 Statement of Accounts.

 
25. PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN 2016/17 

This report and Appendices provided Members of the Board with information 
regarding the progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the Annual 
Internal Audit Plan 2016/17.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) referred Members to the table that 
formed Appendix A to the report which detailed the actions and stages 



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

10

reached for the 10 (ten) audits currently in progress. With regard to Appendix 
B she advised that the training of the 2 new team members and the continued 
absence of the Audit Manager on sick leave had impacted on the actual work 
days completed against the expected work day estimate. 

The Audit Plan would be kept under review going forward to allow for the 
continued impact of staff training and further sick leave as appropriate.

RESOLVED:

1. That the report and Appendices be noted.  

26. REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS - PROGRESS 
REPORT 

This report and Appendices updated the Board on the progress that had been 
made in the implementation of recommendations agreed with Management 
during the year (Appendix A) in addition to reporting on outstanding 
recommendations due to be implemented by 31 July 2016 (Appendix B).

Members were referred to Appendix B of the report and advised that the 
outstanding Recommendation concerning HR policies and procedures 
(agenda p.220) had been progressed since the report had been issued and 
that the Recommendation was now at the ‘Draft’ stage. 

The Shadow Leader noted that the language used to describe the ‘Latest 
Position’ regarding the audit of IT Security 2013/14 (agenda p.218) was in the 
old format that Members had asked to be revised to include a reference to the 
‘source’ for the update and a meaningful timeline.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) undertook to relay the point to the 
Audit Team for amendment and future presentation.

RESOLVED:

1. Audit Board Members noted the reasons for delayed implementation of 
audit recommendations as set out in Appendix B to the report;

2. The Board endorsed the revised dates for implementation provided by 
Management as noted in Appendix B.

27. AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD 

The report and appendices informed Audit Board Members of the outcomes of 
audits that had been completed since the previous report to the Board on 29 
June 2016 and gave Members the opportunity to request further clarification 
or more information as deemed necessary.



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

11

Members were advised that all 9 (nine) audit reports listed in Appendix A had 
been finalised. Seven reports had received a ‘Good’ Opinion for both 
Framework and Compliance; one report had been marked ‘Satisfactory’ for 
both categories and one report had received a ‘Substantial Assurance’ audit 
Opinion.

RESOLVED:

1. That Audit Board Members noted the contents of the report.

28. SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS 

At the last meeting of the Board on 29 June 2016 Members selected five (5) 
creditor payments for checking. The report advised Members of the outcome 
of that exercise.

The Board were advised that all payments selected by Members on that 
occasion had been found to be in order and in compliance with the Council’s 
procedures.

Members were invited to select five (5) further creditor payments for 
examination by the Internal Audit Team and subsequent reporting to the 
Board in January 2017.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members noted the contents of the report and that five (5) further 
payments were selected for checking by Internal Audit and the 
outcomes reported to the Board in January 2017.

29. FUTURE APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

The report provided an update to Board Members on the arrangements for 
appointing external auditors following the abolition of the Audit Commission 
and the ending of the transitional arrangements at the conclusion of the 
2017/18 audits. The report recommended, as a preferred option, that the 
Council opt into a sector led body to negotiate the appointment of an external 
auditor [post 2017/18] and that the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) be 
asked to approve the recommendation.

The Strategic Director (IS) confirmed for Members that the update report 
followed on from previous reports presented to the Board in March and June 
2016 [Min. Nos. 57 and 15 refer] which had outlined three options for 
consideration by the Board and recommendation to the GAC. Those options 
remained as previously reported:



AUDIT BOARD

WEDNESDAY 21 SEPTEMBER 2016

12

 Option 1 – procuring a stand-alone appointment overseen by a 
specially set up independent Audit Panel: this option provided no 
economies of scale [with other Kent Councils] and would incur costs 
associated with the recruitment of independent members and the 
maintenance of an Audit Panel;

 Option 2 – joining with other councils to set up a joint independent 
Auditor Panel: this option would present economies of scale but would 
also distance the decision making body [the Audit Panel] from the local 
input of the Audit Board;

 Option 3 – opting into a sector led body: this was the preferred option 
for recommendation to the GAC. It was the most cost effective option, 
offering economies of scale and dispensed with the need and cost of 
an Audit Panel.  With one possible exception, all the other Kent 
authorities were opting for the sector led approach and the 
appointment of a single external auditor for Kent should ensure audit 
fees were competitive. 

Members were advised that the Council had expressed their interest in 
supporting Option 3 - a sector led body approach - to the Local Government 
Association (LGA) before their deadline of 30 April 2016. 

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained that the Council now 
awaited a formal invitation from Public Sector Appointments Ltd (PSSA) the 
public sector body appointed by the Secretary of State and established by the 
LGA, to take matters forward. Once a formal invitation had been received by 
the Council from the PSSA, the Board’s recommendation would be put before 
the GAC for final decision.

RESOLVED:

1. That the General Assembly of the Council (GAC) be recommended to 
approve a public sector led approach to the negotiation and 
appointment of the external auditor for the Council; as the preferred 
procurement route; upon receipt of a formal invitation from the public 
sector body PSAA to participate in such an appointment exercise. 

The meeting closed at 8.05 pm

Councillor D A Hammock
CHAIRMAN



              
AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

EXTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE

1.      Summary

To present to the Board the Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 and the Audit 
Update 2016/17 issued by Grant Thornton (attached as Appendices A and B 
respectively).

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the Annual Audit Letter for 2015/16 [Appendix A]

2.2 That Members note the Audit Update for the 2016/17 audit [Appendix B]

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1 Grant Thornton presented the Audit Findings report for 2015/16 to the Board at 
the meeting in September. Following approval by the Board, the Statement of 
Accounts was signed by Grant Thornton and published before 30 September 
2016.  

3.2 This meeting is asked to consider the Annual Audit Letter for 2015/16 issued 
by Grant Thornton as well as the Audit Update.

3.3 The Annual Audit letter simply draws to a close the work of the Grant Thornton 
in 2015/16 but does not repeat the level of detail included in the Audit Findings 
report.

3.4 The Audit Board Update document provides the Audit Board with a report on 
the progress of the external auditors in delivering their responsibilities. The 
document also includes a summary of Sector issues and developments, 
technical issues and the latest Grant Thornton Publications.

3.5 Matthew Dean (Grant Thornton) will present the Audit Update to the Board. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None



               
AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Grant Thornton – Annual Audit Letter 2015/16
Appendix B – Grant Thornton – External Audit Update to Year ended 31 March 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Appendices to 
report

Tim Sams
343148

Internal 
Services/ 
Financial 
Services

N/A



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 

The Annual Audit Letter 

for Dartford Borough Council 

 

Year ended 31 March 2016 

Elizabeth Jackson 

Engagement Lead 

T 020 7728 3329 

E  elizabeth.l.jackson@uk.gt.com 

Matt Dean 

Engagement Manager 

T 020 7728 3181 

E  matthew.dean@uk.gt.com 

Sangeeta Kakati 

Executive 

T 020 7728 3421 

E  sangeeta.kakati@uk.gt.com 

25 October 2016 

Cover page 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 2 

Contents 

Section Page 

1. Executive summary 3 

2. Audit of the accounts 4 

3. Value for Money conclusion 8 

4. Working with the Council 10 

Appendices 

A  Reports issued and fees 

B  Action Plan 

Contents 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 3 

Executive summary 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Purpose of this letter 

Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the 

work that we have carried out at Dartford Borough Council (the Council) for the 

year ended 31 March 2016. 

 

This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to the 

Council and its external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to draw 

to the attention of the public.  In preparing this letter, we have followed the 

National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and  Auditor 

Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. 

 

We reported the detailed findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit 

Board as those charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report on 21 

September 2016 

 

Our responsibilities 

We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit 

Practice, which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 (the Act). Our key responsibilities are to: 

• give an opinion on the Council financial statements (section two) 

• assess the Council  arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section 

three). 

 

In our audit of the Council's financial statements, we comply with International 

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the 

NAO. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our work 

Financial statements opinion 

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's financial statements on 27 

September 2016. 

 

Value for money conclusion 

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources during the year ended 

31 March 2016. We reflected this in our audit opinion on 27 September 2016 

 

Certificate 

We certified that we had completed the audit of the accounts of Dartford Borough 

Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code on 27 September 2016.  

 

Certification of grants 

We also carry out work to certify the Council's Housing Benefit subsidy claim on 

behalf of the Department for Work and Pensions. Our work on this claim is not 

yet complete and will be finalised by 30 November 2016. We will report the results 

of this work to the Audit Board in our Annual Certification Letter. 

 

Working with the Council/Authority 

We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and co-operation 

provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff. 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

 October 2016 

 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 4 

Audit of  the accounts 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Our audit approach 

Materiality 

In our audit of the Council's accounts, we use the concept of materiality to 

determine the nature, timing and extent of our work, and in evaluating the results 

of our work. We define materiality as the size of the misstatement in the financial 

statements that would lead a reasonably knowledgeable person to change or 

influence their economic decisions.  

 

We determined materiality for our audit of the Council's accounts to be 

£1,198,000, which is 2% of the Council's gross revenue expenditure. We used this 

benchmark, as in our view, users of the Council's accounts are most interested in 

how it has spent the income it has raised from taxation and grants during the year.  

   

We set a lower threshold of £59,900, above which we reported errors to the Audit 

Board in our Audit Findings Report. 

 

The scope of our audit 

Our audit involves obtaining enough evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are 

free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.  

 

This includes assessing whether:  

• the Council's accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed;  

• significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and 

• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view. 

 

We also read the narrative report and annual governance statement to check 

they are consistent with our understanding of the Council and with the accounts 

on which we give our opinion. 

  

We carry out our audit in line with ISAs (UK and Ireland) and the NAO Code 

of Audit Practice. We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

  

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's 

business and is risk based.  

 

We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response 

to these risks and the results of this work. 

 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 5 

Audit of  the accounts 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment 

(Significant Risk) 

The Council revalues its assets on a rolling basis 

over a five year period. 

The Code requires that the Council ensures that 

the carrying value at the balance sheet date is not 

materially different from the current value. This 

represents a significant estimate by management 

in the financial statements. 

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk: 

• reviewed management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate 

• reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used 

• reviewed the instructions issued to valuation experts and the scope of their work 

• held discussions with the Council's valuer about the basis on which the valuation was carried out, challenging the key 

assumptions. 

• reviewed and challenged the information used by the valuer to ensure it was robust and consistent with our understanding 

• testing of revaluations made during the year to ensure they were input correctly into the Council's asset register 

• evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how management 

satisfied themselves that these were not materially different to current value. 

No significant issues were identified from the audit work performed on this area.  

 

Employee remuneration accruals understated 

There is a risk that the Council's employee 

remuneration expenses included within the 

Accounts could be understated due to costs being 

omitted from the Accounts via incorrect 

processing during the year. 

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk: 

• documented our understanding of the processes and key controls over the transaction cycle 

• undertook a walkthrough of the key controls to assess whether those controls were in line with our documented 

understanding 

• undertook substantive testing of payroll records 

• reviewed the reconciliation between payroll and the general ledger 

• performed a trend analysis of employee remuneration expenses 

No significant issues were identified from the audit work performed on this area. 

 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 6 

Audit of  the accounts (continued) 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

Risks identified in our audit plan How we responded to the risk 

Creditors understated or not recorded in the 

correct period 

There is a risk that the Council's expenditure 

and/or creditors balance could be understated 

by expenditure being either omitted completely 

from the accounts or included within the 

incorrect year.  

 

 

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk: 

• a walkthrough of operating expenses system, updating our understanding 

• performed substantive testing of expenditure 

• performed testing of creditor payments, including accruals, for completeness, classification and occurrence 

• reviewed the control account reconciliations 

• performed cut-off testing 

• reviewed the allocation/apportionment of expenses to meet the requirements of the Service Reporting Code of Practice 

(SeRCoP) 

No significant issues were identified from the audit work performed on this area. 

 

Valuation of pension fund net liability 

The Council's pension fund asset and liability, as 

reflected in its balance sheet, represents a 

significant estimate in the accounts and comprises 

80% of its total liabilities. 

The values of the pension fund net liability is 

estimated by specialist actuaries. 

 

We undertook the following work in relation to this risk:  

• we identified the controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund liability was not materially misstated. 

We also assessed whether these controls were implemented as expected and whether they were sufficient to mitigate the 

risk of material misstatement. 

• we reviewed the competence, expertise and objectivity of the actuary who carried out your pension fund valuation. We 

gained an understanding of the basis on which your valuation was carried out. 

• we undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made. 

• we reviewed the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures within the notes to the financial 

statements with the actuarial report from the actuary. 

No significant issues were identified from the audit work performed on this area 

 

These are the risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work. 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 7 

Audit of  the accounts 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Audit opinion 

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council's accounts on 27 September 2016, 

in advance of the 30 September 2016 national deadline. 

 

The Council made the accounts available for audit in line with the agreed 

timetable, and provided a good set of working papers to support them. The 

finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during the course 

of the audit. 

 

Issues arising from the audit of the accounts 

We reported the key issues from our audit of the accounts of the Council to the 

Council's Audit Board on 22 September 2016.  

 

We identified a number of minor disclosure issues which the Council agreed to 

amend in the final version of the Accounts. We also made one formal 

recommendation around the timely completion of bank reconciliations, which we 

identified as an issue during the course of the year. Details of this 

recommendation, along with management's response, can be seen within 

Appendix B at the end of this Letter. 

Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report 

We are also required to review the Council's Annual Governance Statement and 

Narrative Report. It published them on its website with the draft accounts in 

line with the national deadlines.  

 

Both documents were prepared in line with the relevant guidance and were 

consistent with the supporting evidence provided by the Council and with our 

knowledge of the Council.  

 

Other statutory duties  

We also have additional powers and duties under the Act, including powers to 

issue a public interest report, make written recommendations, apply to the 

Court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law, and to give 

electors the opportunity to raise questions about the Council's accounts and to 

raise objections received in relation to the accounts. 

 

No items have been identified which have required us to use these statutory 

duties during the course of 2015-16. 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 8 

Value for Money conclusion 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Background 

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 

(the Code), following the guidance issued by the NAO in November 2015 which 

specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys resources 

to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.  

 

Key findings 

Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and 

identify the key risks where we concentrated our work. 

The key risks we identified and the work we performed are set out in table 2 

overleaf. 

  

As part of our Audit Findings Report agreed with the Council in September 2016, 

we agreed the outcome of our work and confirmed that we had identified a 

recommendation around the need for continued close monitoring of their financial 

position to ensure that any slippage is identified and dealt with in a timely manner. 

Details of this recommendation and management's response to this can be seen 

within Appendix B at the end of this Letter.  

 

Overall VfM conclusion 

We are satisfied that in all significant respects the Council put in place proper 

arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 

resources for the year ending 31 March 2016.  

 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 9 

Value for Money  

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

 

 

 

Risk identified Work carried out Findings and conclusions 

Financial Position 

Whilst you are on course to meet your 

financial outturn for 2015-16, this does 

rely on the use of funding sources 

which will not be as readily available 

in future years. The Council also 

needs to identify a considerable level 

of savings over next five years as part 

of its Medium Term Financial Plan to 

reduce the level of reserves needed to 

achieve financial balance. 

  

We performed the following work in 

this area: 

• reviewed relevant Council and 

other committee papers; 

• reviewed the 2015-16 financial 

outturn against plan, and 

investigated any significant areas 

of over/underperformance and the 

reasons behind these. 

• reviewed the progress against the 

2016-17 financial plan up to the 

completion of our audit; and 

• obtained an update on the 

Council's Medium Term Financial 

Strategy, including progress on 

identifying the savings required in 

coming years, including 

discussions with Management on 

progress to date. 

Our work on this area identified the following: 

• The Council delivered a £554k underspend against its General Fund Budget in 2015-16. The 

planned budget included the use of £1.926m of Reserves but the outturn has been achieved 

without this contribution. This has enabled the Council to maintain their General Fund Balance 

at £3m, which helps them to face the challenges over the next four years. 

 

• In respect of 2016-17, the Council has been able to set a balanced budget, but this does rely 

on the use of £2.06m of New Homes Bonus. However the Council is still planning to identify 

further efficiency savings during the year to reduce the amount of the New Homes Bonus which 

needs to be used. The Council agreed to freeze Council Tax for the seventh consecutive year. 

 

• In terms of the longer term plans, the Council has set an updated Medium Term Financial Plan, 

covering the period from 2017-18 to 2020-21. As it stands, the Council needs to identify a 

significant level of efficiency savings over the four year period. The savings target in 2017-18 is 

£2.1m rising to £3.7m per annum by the fourth year. This will be a considerable challenge for 

the Council, despite its track record in delivering its budgets in recent years. The Council has 

made a start on identifying these savings, via the formation of a Star Chamber to help identify 

savings within each of the relevant Departments. Given this project is still at a very early stage, 

we are unable to assess at this stage how successful this project will be although we have not 

identified any significant concerns that would impact on our 2015-16 value for money 

conclusion. 

 

• In terms of the actual Plan, the Council has prepared this on the basis that it will not receive 

any New Homes Bonus during the life of the Plan, and it has worked on the basis that Council 

Tax will be frozen during the four years as well. Both of these assumptions could significantly 

reduce the level of savings required over this period. 

 

Overall the Council is well placed to face the challenges in front of it, but it will need to monitor the 

progress of the Plan and savings closely to ensure any slippage is identified in a timely manner so 

it can be resolved promptly and doesn't impact on the overall financial position of the Council. We 

have raised a recommendation for the Council around the need for careful financial monitoring 

during this period, which is included within Appendix B, along with Management's response to this. 

Table 2: Value for money risks 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 10 

Working with the Council 

Overall review of 

financial 

statements 

Our work with you in 2015/16 

We are really pleased to have worked with you  over the past year. We 

have established a positive and constructive relationship. Together we 

have delivered some great outcomes.  

 

Understanding your operational health – through the value for money 

conclusion we provided you with assurance on your operational 

effectiveness, along with an assessment of your medium term financial 

health as well.  

 

Sharing our insight – we provided regular Audit Board updates covering 

best practice. Areas we covered included our local government health 

checks and governance review, 'Reforging Local Government', along with 

our review of Audit Committee effectiveness, 'Knowing the Ropes', along 

with a range of other Reports.  

 

We have also shared with you our insights on advanced closure of local 

authority accounts, in our publication "Transforming the financial 

reporting of local authority accounts" and will continue to provide you 

with our insights as you continue to bring forward your production of your 

year-end accounts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 11 

Appendix A: Reports issued and fees 

Fees 

Planned 

£ 

Actual fees  

£ 

2014/15 fees  

£ 

Statutory audit of Council 46,405 46,405 61,873 

Housing Benefit Grant Certification 16,125 TBC 25,980 

Total fees (excluding VAT) 62,530 TBC 87,853 

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services. 

Fees for other services 

Service Fees £ 

Non-audit services 

• Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts (CFB06) 

 

£2,000 

Any potential fee variations for the work on the Housing Benefit Grant 

Certification are subject to approval by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd, 

and we will report this back to the Audit Board once any additional fees have been 

agreed. 

Reports issued 

Report Date issued 

Audit Plan 23 March 2016 

Audit Findings Report 21 September 2016 

Annual Audit Letter 28 October 2016 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 12 

Appendix B: Action plan 

Priority 
High - Significant effect on control system 
Medium - Effect on control system 
Low - Best practice 

Rec 

No. Recommendation Priority Management response 

Implementation date & 

responsibility 

1 Bank reconciliations 

The Council needs to ensure that the 

monthly bank reconciliations are 

completed and reviewed in a timely 

manner throughout the year. 

 

Medium The monthly bank reconciliations are now being 

completed and reviewed on a timely basis.  

On-going 

Principal Finance and 

Procurement Officer 

2 Council's Financial Plans 

Whilst the Council is in a sound place 

financially in 2015/16, the level of savings 

required over the life of the latest Medium 

Term Financial Plan is significant. The 

Council needs to continue monitoring the 

budget and savings required to ensure 

targets are delivered and any slippage 

identified is dealt with as soon as possible. 

 

Medium The Council's Medium Term Financial Plan has been 

prepared on a prudent basis. It is likely that receipts of 

Business Rates, New Homes Bonus and Council Tax 

will be higher than shown in the Plan which will reduce 

the requirement for savings. It is anticipated that the Star 

Chamber exercise will result in a programme of savings 

and income generation which will address the budget 

gap. Progress towards achieving these savings and 

income opportunities will be closely monitored. 

On-going 

Strategic Director – Internal 

Services and Financial Services 

Manager 

Appendices 



© 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  The Annual Audit Letter for Dartford Borough Council  |  28 October 2016 

Back page 





Audit Board  

Dartford Borough Council 

Progress Report and Update  

Year ended 31 March 2017 
January 2017 

Elizabeth Jackson 

Engagement Lead 

T 020 7728 3329 

E elizabeth.l.jackson@uk.gt.com 

Matt Dean 

Engagement Manager 

T 020 7728 3181 

E  matthew.dean@uk.gt.com 

Sangeeta Kakati 

In-Charge Accountant 

T 020 7728 3181 

E  sangeeta.kakati@uk.gt.com 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

2 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

The contents of this report relate only to the matters which have come to our attention, which we believe need to be 

reported to you as part of our audit process. It is not a comprehensive record of all the relevant matters, which may 

be subject to change, and in particular we cannot be held responsible to you for reporting all of the risks which may 

affect your business or any weaknesses in your internal controls. This report has been prepared solely for your 

benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our prior written consent. We do not accept any 

responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content 

of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

3 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Introduction 

Members of the Audit Board can find further useful material on our website www.grant-thornton.co.uk, where we have a 

section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications: 

• Advancing closure: the benefits to local authorities  (July 2016) www.grantthornton.co.uk/insights/advancing-closure-the-

benefits-to-local-authorities/ 

• Building a successful joint venture company (April 2016)  www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-

joint-venture-company/ 

• Innovation in public financial management (December 2015); www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-

in-public-financial-management/ 

• Knowing the Ropes – Audit Committee; Effectiveness Review (October 2015); 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/ 

• Making devolution work: A practical guide for local leaders (October 2015) 

www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/ 

If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive 

regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement 

Manager. 

This paper provides the Audit Board with a report on 

progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external 

auditors.  

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/building-a-successful-joint-venture-company/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/innovation-in-public-financial-management/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/knowing-the-ropes--audit-committee-effectiveness-review-2015/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/making-devolution-work/


Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

4 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at January 2017 

2015/16 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Annual Audit Letter 
We are required to issue the Annual Audit Letter by the 30 

November 

 

30/11/16 Yes 

Grant Claims Audit 
We are required to certify your Housing Benefits Grant Claim by 30 

November. We are not auditing any other grant claims.  We will 

issue a certification letter, confirming the outcome of our work and 

the fees charged.  This will be presented to the January Audit 

Board. 

30/11/16 Yes We certified the Council's Housing Benefit Claim on the 29th of 

November, and our Certification Letter is on the Agenda for this Audit 

Board meeting.  

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Fee Letter  
We are required to issue a 'Planned fee letter for 2016-17' by the 

end of April 2016 

30/4/16 

 

 

Completed to plan The fee letter was sent on 21 April 2016 and noted at the June 2016 

Audit Board meeting. It confirmed the 2016/17 scale audit fee of 

£46,405 for the Council. 

 

Accounts Audit Plan 
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the 

Council setting out our proposed approach in order to give an 

opinion on the Council's 2016-17 financial statements. 

 

March 2017 Not yet due 

 

Following the completion of our Interim Visit in January, we will issue 

our Audit Plan ahead of Audit Board in March 2017.  

Interim accounts audit  
Our interim fieldwork visit plan included: 

• updated review of the Council's control environment 

• updated understanding of financial systems 

• review of Internal Audit reports on core financial systems 

• early work on emerging accounting issues 

• early substantive testing 

• Value for Money conclusion risk assessment. 

 

6th to 10th 

February 2017 

 

Not yet due On the back of the Interim Visit we will look to undertake some early 

substantive testing in March 2017 to reduce the level of work needed 

during the June Accounts Visit.  



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

5 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Progress at January 2017 

2016/17 work Planned Date Complete? Comments 

Final accounts audit 
Including: 

• audit of the 2016-17 financial statements 

• proposed opinion on the Council's accounts 

• proposed Value for Money conclusion 

• review of the Council's disclosures in the consolidated accounts 

against the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 

the United Kingdom 2016-17   

June 2017 Not yet due We will continue to work with the Council's Finance Team to endeavour 

to make the final accounts audit as smooth as possible.  

 

Value for Money (VfM) conclusion 
The scope of our work is unchanged to 2015-16 and is set out in 
the final guidance issued by the National Audit Office in November 
2015. The Code requires auditors to satisfy themselves that; "the 
Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources". 

The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as; "in all significant 
respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to 
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people". 

The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are: 

• Informed decision making 

• Sustainable resource deployment 

• Working with partners and other third parties 

January to June 

2017 

Not yet due We will undertake an initial Risk Assessment as part of our Interim 
Audit and report any significant risks identified in our Audit Plan 
mentioned on the previous slide.  

Other areas of work  
Meetings with  Members, Officers and others 

 

On-going  In progress None identified for the 2016-17 audit year to date 

 



Technical Matters 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

7 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Code of  Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2016/17 

This is the seventh edition of  the Code to be 

prepared under International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS), which have been adopted as 

the basis for public sector accounting in the UK. 

The 2016/17 Code has been developed by 

CIPFA/LASAAC and has effect for financial 

years commencing on or after 1 April 2016.  

Local authorities in the United Kingdom are 

required to keep their accounts in accordance 

with ‘proper (accounting) practices’. This is 

defined, for the purposes of  local government 

legislation, as meaning compliance with the terms 

of  the Code of  Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

. 

  

 The Code  includes changes resulting from the 'Telling the Story' review 

on improving the presentation of  local authority financial statements. 

These include new formats and reporting requirements for the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in 

Reserves Statement and the introduction of  the new Expenditure and 

Funding Analysis. 

.  

Amendments arising from the narrow scope amendments to International 

Financial Reporting Standards including changes from the following 

amended standards: 

 

IAS 1 Presentation of  Financial Statements under the International 

Accounting Standards Board Disclosure Initiative 

 

 IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures in relation to key management 

personnel as a result of  the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 – 2012  

 

 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Accounting for Acquisitions of  interest in 

Joint Operations  

 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments as a result of  the Annual Improvements to 

IFRSs 2010 – 2012.  

 

 An update to the Statements Reporting Reviews of  Internal Controls 

Section of  the Code for the changes to the Delivering Good Governance 

in Local Government: Framework (2016) published by CIPFA and 

SOLACE.  

 

 

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjQrcCJjKvQAhVEXBQKHUE1CGAQjRwIBw&url=http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/technical-panels-and-boards/cipfa-lasaac-local-authority-code-board/ifrsbased-code-of-practice-on-local-authority-accounting-in-the-united-kingdom-the-code&psig=AFQjCNFxjeY49uK1K5I3EbfdytS3A6Bhbg&ust=1479310734194517


 Sector issues and developments 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

9 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/local-welfare-provision/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/financial-sustainability-of-local-authorities-capital-expenditure-and-resourcing/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/english-devolution-deals/ 

National Audit Office: Below is a selection of  reports issued during 2016 which may be of  interest to 

Audit Committee members.  Please see the website for all reports issued by the NAO.  



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

10 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

National Audit Office reports (continued) 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/overview-local-government/ 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/ 

 

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-troubled-families-programme-update/


 Grant Thornton 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

12 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Brexit 
 

Planning can help organisations 

reduce the impact of  Brexit 

Several months have passed since the referendum to leave 

the European Union (EU), during which there has been a 

flurry of political activity, including the party conference 

season. 

After many years of relative stability, organisations will 

need to prepare themselves for a period of uncertainty and 

volatility and will need to keep their risk registers under 

constant review. The outcome of the US Presidential 

election in November 2016 has added to this uncertainty. 

The High Court ruling that Parliament should have a say 

before the UK invokes Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty – 

which triggers up to two years of formal EU withdrawal 

talks – will not, in our view, impact on the final outcome. 

There appears to be a general political consensus that 

Brexit does mean Brexit, but we feel there could be 

slippage beyond the original timetable which expected to 

see the UK leave the EU by March 2019.  

2017 elections in The Netherlands (March), France 

(April/May), and Germany (October/November) will 

complicate the Brexit negotiation process and timeline at a 

time when Brexit is more important for the UK than it is 

for the remaining 27 Member States 

 

The question still remains, what does Brexit look like?  

While there may be acceptance among politicians that the 

UK is leaving the EU, there is far from any agreement on 

what our future relationship with the continent should be. 

So, what do we expect based on what has happened so 

far? 

Existing EU legislation will remain in force  

We expect that the Government will introduce a “Repeal 

Act” (repealing the European Communities Act of 1972 

that brought us into the EU) in early 2017. 

As well as undoing our EU membership, this will 

transpose existing EU regulations and legislation into UK 

law. We welcome this recognition of the fact that so 

much of UK law is based on EU rules and that trying to 

unpick these would not only take many years but also 

create additional uncertainty. 

Taking back control is a priority 

It appears that the top priority for government is 'taking 

back control', specifically of the UK's borders. Ministers 

have set out proposals ranging from reducing our 

dependence on foreign doctors or cutting overseas 

student numbers. The theme is clear: net migration must 

fall. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leaving the Single Market appears likely 

The tone and substance of Government speeches on 

Brexit, coupled with the wish for tighter controls on 

immigration and regulation, suggest a future where the 

UK enjoys a much more detached relationship with the 

EU. 

Potential existing examples for the UK's future 

relationship, such as the 'Norwegian' or 'Swiss' models, 

seem out of the question. The UK wants a 'bespoke deal'. 

Given the rhetoric coming from Europe, our view is that 

this would signal an end to the UK's membership of the 

Single Market. With seemingly no appetite to amend the 

four key freedoms required for membership, the UK 

appears headed for a so-called 'Hard Brexit'. It is possible 

that the UK will seek a transitional arrangement, to give 

time to negotiate the details of our future trading 

relationship. 

Grant Thornton update 



Audit Board progress report and update – Dartford Borough Council 

13 © 2016 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. 

Brexit 
 

This is of course, all subject to change, and, politics, 

especially at the moment, moves quickly. 

Where does this leave the public sector? 

After a relatively stable summer, we expect there will be 

increased volatility as uncertainty grows approaching the 

formal negotiation period. 

Planning can help organisations 

reduce the impact of  Brexit 

The chancellor has acknowledged the effect this may 

have on investment and signalled his intention to support 

the economy, delaying plans to get the public finances 

into surplus by 2019/20.  

We expect that there will be some additional government 

investment in 2017, with housing and infrastructure being 

the most likely candidates. 

Clarity is a long way off. However, public sector 

organisations should be planning now for making a 

success of a hard Brexit, with a focus on: 

Staffing – organisations should begin preparing for 

possible restrictions on their ability to recruit migrant 

workers and also recognise that the UK may be a less 

attractive place for them to live and work. Non-UK 

employees might benefit from a degree of reassurance as 

our expectation is that those already here will be allowed to 

stay. Employees on short term or rolling contracts might 

find it more difficult to stay over time. 

Financial viability – public sector bodies should plan 

how they will overcome any potential shortfalls in funding 

(e.g. grants, research funding or reduced student numbers). 

Market volatility – for example pension fund and 

charitable funds investments and future treasury 

management considerations. 

International collaboration – perhaps a joint venture or 

PPP scheme with an overseas organisation or linked 

research projects. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton update 

For regular updates on Brexit, please see 

our website: 

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insig

hts/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-

the-debate/  

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/brexit-planning-the-future-shaping-the-debate/




              
AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

EXTERNAL AUDIT – CERTIFICATION WORK REPORT 2015/16

1. Summary

1.1.The External Auditor has submitted a letter on the certification of grants 
in 2015/16 for consideration by the Board. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1.That Members note the contents of the External Auditor’s 2015/16 
Certification Letter, at Appendix A to the report.

3. Background and Discussion  

3.1.The External Auditor is required to certify the Housing Benefit claims 
completed by the Council. The External Auditor has produced a specific 
letter on this work for noting by Members (Appendix A). 

3.2.Matthew Dean from Grant Thornton will present the letter to the Board. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The indicative scale fee for the Council 
for 2015/16 is £16,125. However, given 
the additional work performed to date, 
along with the further work that is likely 
to be required, Grant Thornton are 
unable to confirm the final fee until fee 
variations have been approved by 
PSAA, as was the case in the prior year. 
The final prior year cost was £25,980.

Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment None

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Certification work letter 2015/16 – Grant Thornton



              
AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Tim Sams
343148

Internal 
Services/ 
Financial 
Services

N/A



 
 

 

 

Sarah Martin 
Strategic Director (Internal Services) & Section 151 Officer 
Dartford Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
Kent 
DA1 1DR 

6 December 2016 
 
Dear Sarah 

Certification work for Dartford Borough Council for year ended 31 March 2016 

We are required to certify the Housing Benefit subsidy claim submitted by Dartford Borough 
Council ('the Council'). This certification typically takes place six to nine months after the 
claim period and represents a final but important part of the process to confirm the Council's 
entitlement to funding. 

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gave the Secretary of State power to transfer 
Audit Commission responsibilities to other bodies. Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) have taken on the transitional responsibilities for HB COUNT issued by the Audit 
Commission in February 2015. 

We have certified the Housing Benefit subsidy claim for the financial year 2015/16 relating to 
expenditure of £27.8 million. Further details of the claim certified is set out in Appendix A. 

There were issues arising from our certification work which we wish to highlight for your 
attention, which resulted in us issuing a Qualification Letter to the DWP on the 29th of 
November following the completion of our work on the claim. This was due to a number of 
errors identified from either our initial testing or issues that were identified in the prior year. 
One particular area to highlight is the calculation of claimants Self Employed Income, where 
errors identified in our testing generated a large extrapolation under the HB COUNT 
Methodology. Given the size of this extrapolation, the Council is going to write to the DWP 
to request to perform additional work in this area to reduce the extrapolation, which will 
impact the level of subsidy the DWP stands to reclaim from the Council. We will work 
closely with the Council to review this additional work once performed and we will update 
our extrapolation accordingly.   

The indicative fee for 2015/16 for the Council is based on the final 2013/14 certification 
fees, reflecting the amount of work required by the auditor to certify the Housing Benefit 
subsidy claim that year. The indicative scale fee set by the Audit Commission for the Council 
for 2015/16 is £16,125. This is set out in more detail in Appendix B. However given the 
additional work that we have performed to date, along with the further work that is likely to 
be required, we are unable to confirm the final fee until our fee variations have been 
approved by PSAA, as was the case in the prior year.  

 
 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Grant Thornton House 
Melton Street 
London 
NW1 2EP 
 
T +44(0)20 7383 5100 
www.grant-thornton.co.uk 

 



 2 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 

 
Elizabeth Jackson 
 
For Grant Thornton UK LLP  



 3 

Appendix A - Details of claims and returns certified for 2015/16 

Claim or 
return 

Value Amended? Amendment 
(£) 

Qualified?  
 

Comments 

Housing 
benefits 
subsidy claim 

£27,867,477 Yes Classification 
Amendment 
Only 

Yes As in the prior year, we 
issued a Qualification Letter 
on the 29th of November to 
the DWP in respect of the 
issues identified from our 
testing. One minor 
amendment was made to the 
claim form for a 
misclassification of 
expenditure but this had no 
impact on the overall level 
of subsidy claimed.  

 

Appendix B: Fees for 2015/16 certification work 
 

Claim or return 2013/14 
fee (£)  

2015/16 
indicative 
fee (£) 

2015/16 
actual fee 
(£) 

Variance 
(£) 

Explanation for variances 

Housing benefits 
subsidy claim 
(BEN01) 

16,125 16,125 TBC TBC As mentioned on Page 1, we 
will be requesting additional 
fee in respect of the 
additional testing performed 
where errors have been 
identified. We will agree this 
figure with Management 
before sharing with PSAA to 
request approval.  

  





AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

COUNTER FRAUD TEAM UPDATE REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides Members with details of the work carried out by the new 
Counter Fraud Team created on 1 February 2016 following the transfer of 
Housing Benefit fraud work to the Department for Work & Pensions in 
January 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the content of the report and the work carried out by the 
Counter Fraud Team so far in 2016/17.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy 2016 – 
2019 published by the government in March 2016 warned that local 
authorities face a significant fraud challenge which if not addressed 
could directly affect funding for vital frontline services affecting the most 
vulnerable groups in society. 

3.2. The report called for local authorities to adopt an ‘invest to save’ 
strategy by retaining their experienced fraud staff ear-marked for 
transfer to the Department for Work & Pensions’ Single Fraud 
Investigation Service and to build a robust fraud and corruption 
strategy designed to prevent and detect fraud loss, to bring fraudsters 
to account more quickly and efficiently, and improve the recovery of 
losses.

3.3. In February 2016 the Council’s responsibility for the investigation of 
welfare benefit fraud passed to the Department for Work & Pensions’ 
Single Fraud Investigation Service. The Council conducted a thorough 
review of its anti-fraud service and created a new Counter Fraud Team 
which is based within the Revenues and Benefits Department with a 
primary role of policing the discounts, exemptions, allowances and 
reliefs awarded as part of the Local Taxation process. 

4. Summary of Issues in the Report

4.1     The Counter Fraud Team update report can be found in Appendix A of 
this report and it summaries the following aspects:

 An explanation of the new fraud & compliance procedures which 
have been introduced following the creation of the new Counter 
Fraud Team. These are designed to protect the public purse and 
deter tax payers from abusing the schemes there to protect them.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

 A summary of the results attained so far, commentary on how these 
losses might have escalated if left untouched and plans for the 
future.

5. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

6. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None.

Legal Implications None. 

Staffing Implications None. 

Administrative Implications None. 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints.

7. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

8. Appendices

Appendix A – Counter Fraud Update Report December 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Housing
Benefit, Local 
Council Tax
Support

N/A Glen Moore
01732 227471

Audit, Risk 
& Anti-
Fraud

N/A



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

Appendix A

Counter Fraud Update Report

December 2016

1. Introduction

This report updates Members on the activities of the new Counter Fraud 
Team created to detect and investigate all forms of external local authority 
fraud.

2. Background

In February 2016 the Department for Work & Pensions took over 
responsibility for the investigation of all welfare benefit fraud. This had a 
significant impact on the long established anti-fraud services within local 
authorities, some of which were disbanded as part of ‘cost-cutting’ measures. 

The government’s new Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy published in 
March 2016 (Fighting Fraud & Corruption Locally) called for local councils:

 To adopt an ‘invest to save’ approach in respect of their counter fraud 
resources.

 To look in the right areas, by taking a risk based approach to identify 
fraud.

 To keep ahead of fraudsters by utilising innovation and implementing 
robust systems to prevent fraud entering the system in the first place.

The Council took the opportunity created by this change to thoroughly review 
their anti-fraud service and make it fit for purpose under these new working 
arrangements.

3. New Approach

The area of discounts, exemptions and reliefs within Revenues & Benefits 
was highlighted as an area of concern in relation to potential losses to the 
public purse. The Council is fully committed to protecting its most vulnerable 
residents by awarding the correct discounts, exemptions and reliefs where the 
circumstances warrant them. Unfortunately, numerous fraud studies and 
reports have identified significant concerns in relation to failing to report 
changes of circumstances and even fraudulent applications in this area.

As a result a new fraud & compliance strategy has been developed to monitor 
and review these allowances so that fraud and error can be quickly identified 
and corrected. Some of the new processes include:

 The creation of a targeted review programme co-ordinated by the 
Counter Fraud Team to concentrate checking on the highest value, 
highest risk discounts & exemptions.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

 As a result of funding support from the Council Tax major preceptors, 
the purchase and introduction of the latest credit reference data 
analysis tools which is allowing the department to identify both fraud 
and error in our systems and correct it quickly and efficiently.

 The authority has joined forces with all of the other Kent authorities to 
create a Kent Fraud Hub which is matching data held across the 
various districts to identify fraud and error in the county.   

4. Successes so far

Work conducted so far in 2016/17 by the Fraud & Compliance Team in 
respect of Council Tax accounts in the Dartford area has successfully 
adjusted 203 incorrect Single Person Discounts and 20 exemptions. The table 
below shows the actual loss to the public purse as well as an indication of the 
projected losses going forward if the award was not corrected for a relevant 
time period:

Projected Additional LossActual 
Loss

1 Month 2 months 3 months 6 months 12 
months

24 
months

Council Tax
Single
Person

Discounts
£75,511 £5,534 £11,068 £16,602 £33,204 £66,409 £132,817

Council Tax
Exemptions

£22,270 £2,142 £4,284 £6,427 £12,853 £25,706 £51,412

As the table demonstrates substantial levels of public money are being lost to 
fraud within tax collection systems and if it were not for the anti-fraud 
measures being applied the losses would continue to grow.

It is hoped that as the credit reference data match work becomes fully 
established and initiatives such as the Kent Fraud Hub start to yield higher 
levels of referrals that more and more incorrect awards can be adjusted and 
more public money saved.   

5. Future plans and developments

The Council is in the process of amending its Anti-Fraud & Corruption 
Strategy document and the finalised policy will be reported to a future Audit 
Board.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

Other policies such as a Risk-based Verification Policy and Civil Penalties & 
Sanctions and Prosecutions Policy have now been approved by Cabinet and 
it is hoped to implement them early in 2017.





AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN 2016/17

1. Summary

1.1. This report provides Members of the Board with information regarding the 
progress of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2016/17.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the contents of the report and review progress against 
the 2016/17 Annual Audit Plan.

2.2 That Members approve the amendments made to the Annual Audit Plan 
2016/17.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 This report provides details of the progress of the Internal Audit Team 
in delivering the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2016/17. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Board requires the Board to consider the 
achievements of the Internal Audit Team in delivering the assurance 
requirements for 2016/17.

3.2 The Internal Audit Function is a key process of the Council’s overall 
governance arrangements. Its key purpose is to conduct independent 
reviews of the Council’s system of internal controls, risk management 
processes and governance arrangements, in order to provide an 
assurance to both Senior Management and Members, regarding the 
effectiveness of such systems. Within the scope of his responsibilities, 
the Internal Audit Manager is required to report periodically to the Audit 
Board, on the progress made in delivering the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan. 

3.3 A summary of progress made in delivering the assurance requirements 
for 2016/17 is attached as Appendix A to this report, which sets out 
details of the reviews agreed by the Audit Board in March 2016. 
Members may note that fifteen planned reviews have commenced, with 
nine already at final report stage and the remaining six are at various 
stages of work in progress. This is equivalent to 54% of the revised 
planned reviews. 

4. Amendments to Internal Audit Plan

4.1 Members are advised that the Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 has been 
amended to take account of existing capacity and to reflect the 
assurance priorities for the rest of the municipal year. Some productive 
capacities have been lost, partly due to a vacancy and the long term 
absence of the Audit Manager. To this effect it is necessary to carry 



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

forward five reviews.  Senior Management have approved the 
proposed amendments to the plan as set out below.

4.2 Details of the amendments are set out in Appendix A.  In particular, the 
following items are proposed to be deferred to next year’s assurance 
plan; Items 7, 12, 23, 24, and 30.  However, prior to inclusion, they 
would be subject to the annual risk assessment and a review of 
assurance needs and priorities, as part of the annual planning process. 
Five reviews were held in reserve, to accommodate any contingencies, 
however, due to reduced staff resource we will be unable to carry out 
these reviews.

4.3 Members are advised that the proposed changes to the plan will not 
have a material impact on the level of assurance that could be provided 
in 2016/17; as the proposals take account of assessed risks and 
assurance needs.

5. Internal Audit Resources 

5.1 Appendix B shows the use of Internal Audit resources for the period up 
to 30 November 2016; which takes account of additional training and 
development needs for new recruits. Members may note that Internal 
Audit resources are under capacity due to the long term absence of 
one member of staff and a resignation. This has consequently put 
some strain on delivery of the plan and overall effectiveness. However, 
this is being mitigated to some extent, by the use of agency staff in the 
short term.  

5.2 Members may also be pleased to note that the TeamMate electronic 
audit management software is progressing well and it is anticipated 
that it will be fully implemented in time for the 2017/18 Internal Audit 
Plan. This forms part of the agreed actions in the internal audit 
improvement plan and will facilitate the implementation of more modern 
ways of working, which is expected to lead to greater efficiency and 
improved quality of the internal audit service.

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

6.1 Not applicable

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications The absence of the Audit Manager and a vacant 
auditor post has put pressure on the team. The 
use of agency staff in the short term will partly 
alleviate this pressure .



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The Council is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015, regarding its arrangements for 
Internal Audit, in order to ensure fitness for 
purpose and taking into account the Public 
Sector Internal Audit Standards and professional 
guidance. The staff issues identified above have 
meant that some of the audits within the Audit 
Plan have had to be slipped but nevertheless, the 
use of agency staff in the short term will ensure 
that the team is able to deliver on the Council’s 
assurance requirements and mandatory 
guidance.

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

8.1 Not applicable

9. Appendices

Appendix A - Progress against 2016/17 Audit Plan
Appendix B - Use of Internal Audit Resources

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Annual Audit Plan 2016/17

New Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards 2016.

Account and Audit 
Regulations 2015.

25.3.16 Prepared on behalf 
of the Audit 
Manager
01322 343023

Internal 
Audit/
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





Appendix A
PROGRESS AGAINST 2016/17 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN                                              As at 6/12/16   

System audited Final 
report 
issued

Draft 
report 
issued

Feedback 
process in 
progress

Fieldwork 
in progress

Brief 
issued

Cancelled     
or Defer to 

2017/18
1 Fraud & Error Reduction x
2 Capital Building Programme x

3 Fairfield Pool x
4 Implementing CIL Reserve
5 Environmental Health Services Reserve
6 Electoral Services 

7 HR Contract x
8 Asset Management x
9 Council Tax & Benefits x
10 Payroll

11 Key Financial Systems x
12 Business Rates (Revenues) x
13 Anti-Fraud Arrangements x
14 Inventories/Insurances Reserve
15 Parking

16 Litter Enforcement x
17 Kent Resource Partnership x
18 Planning Applications x
19 Licensing

20 Markets Income x
21 Consultants & Agency Staff x
22 Performance Management

23 Corporate Governance x
24 Risk Management x
25 Channel Shift x
26 Authorisation Process Reserve
27 Business Continuity & Emergency 

Planning 
x

28 IT Strategy/Acquisitions Reserve
29 Transparency Code x
30 Audit Universe x
31 Members’ Allowance

32 Contracts Register

33 Data Protection & Freedom of Information

Total 9 0 2 2 2 5 (5 Res)

COMPARATIVE POSITION JAN 2016 5 3 3 0 4 5



APPENDIX B

USE OF INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES TO 30 NOVEMBER 2016

Actual* Expected

Total workdays from April 2016 520 540

LESS:
Bank holidays and authorised leave 110 85
Staff development & training 36 24
Sick leave 29 12

Total 175 121

AUDIT DAYS AVAILABLE 345 419

Audits 166 189
Fraud, irregularity and special projects 6 20
Contract audit 1 4
Systems advice and selective invoice 
checks

8 23

General administration/Board 
reporting/service development/risk 
management/joint working

118 163

Audit management 46 20

Total 345 419

*Audit Manager’s allotment of time estimated due to long term absence.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS – 
PROGRESS REPORT 

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to update Members on progress of the implementation of 
recommendations agreed with Management during this year, and to report on 
outstanding recommendations due for implementation by 30 November 2016.

1.2 The process enables Members to review implementation of Internal Audit 
recommendations.  When recommendations have not been implemented, it 
enables Members to seek explanations or agree revised dates.  If Management 
propose not to action recommendations and accept the risk, Members can 
review this decision to determine if it meets the objectives of the Board and 
whether it represents an acceptable level of risk for the Council.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the information in Appendix A to the report and request 
further information or explanation as appropriate.

2.2 That Members note the reasons for delayed implementation of the actions 
and endorse the revised dates for implementation provided by Management, 
as noted in Appendix B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Audit Recommendation Progress report is presented to each 
meeting of the Board to inform Members of the progress made by 
Management to implement the recommendations agreed with Internal 
Audit.  The report also informs the Board where implementation dates 
have been revised, or where agreed recommendations have not been 
implemented.                           

3.2. Appendix A provides a summary of the reports for which Management 
had agreed recommendation implementation dates for the period to 30 
November 2016. Internal Audit has obtained the current status from the 
responsible managers, but it should be noted that where 
implementation has been confirmed, Internal Audit has not yet 
undertaken any additional testing to verify this.  Implementation checks 
will be carried out in due course, usually between 3 to 6 months of the 
agreed implementation date.

3.3. Appendix B provides details of agreed recommendations where 
Management have advised Internal Audit that implementation of  
agreed actions has initially been delayed from the originally planned 
date (for ease of reference, the numbering under the recommendation 
column, refers to the numbers on the original audit report). Enquiries 
with Management indicates that satisfactory progress is being made, or 



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

proposed, to implement the agreed recommendations. Management 
also advised that there are no material impacts to the Council, as a 
result of the change in implementation date. However, Internal Audit 
will continue to monitor progress where appropriate and report back to 
the Board as necessary.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications Implications may arise from implementation of 
some audit recommendations, but only in 
agreement with Management responsible for the 
areas audited.

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The purpose of audit recommendations is to 
address and manage identified risks. 
Consequently risk profiles may increase in areas 
where the implementation of recommendations is 
delayed, if there are no compensating mitigating 
controls in place.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Summary of recommendations followed-up.
Appendix B - ‘Overdue’ recommendations where implementation 

delayed.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

None N/A Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
01322 343023

Internal 
Audit/ 
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

None



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS FOLLOWED UP          APPENDIX A

Audit 

(Number of Recommendations 
originally accepted)

Date final 
report 
issued

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation 

now confirmed by 
management

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation 
delayed 

(Appendix B)

Number of 
recommendations 

where management 
advise that 

implementation is 
no longer intended 

(Appendix C)

Number of 
recommendations 

where 
implementation not 

confirmed or 
alternative date not 

provided
Museum 2013/14 (7) 9/12/13 7 0 0 0

IT Security 2013/14 (5) 22/7/14 3 2 0 0

Agency Staff Contracting & 
Consulting 2014/15 (7)

9/1/15 7 0 0 0

HR Contracting Including Payroll 
2014/15 (4)

29/6/15 3 1 0 0

Data Protection & Freedom of 
Information 2015/16 (4)

1/10/15 2 2 0 0

Disabled Facilities Grants 2015/16 
(3)

20/11/15 2 1 0 0

Parking Services 2015/16 (4) 27/4/16 2 2* 0 0

Safeguarding 2015/16 (2) 13/5/16 1 1 0 0

Human Resources 2015/16 (2) 31/5/16 1 1 0 0

Payroll 2015/16 (3) 16/6/16 1 2 0 0

Regeneration & Planning 2015/16 
(1)

6/7/16 0 1 0 0

Litter Enforcement 2016/17 (4) 6/7/16 4 0 0 0

Collection & Enforcement of Debt 
2015/16 (2)

22/7/16 0 2 0 0

Channel Shift 2016/17 (4) 13/9/16 2 2 0 0



APPENDIX B

Page 2 of 16

Significant Contracts 2015/16 (9) 14/9/16 7 2 0 0

Transparency Code 2016/17 (2) 14/9/16 2 0 0 0
 
*Recommendation 3 not due until April 2017



APPENDIX B

Page 3 of 16

‘OVERDUE’ RECOMMENDATIONS WHERE IMPLEMENTATION HAS BEEN DELAYED

Audit: IT Security 2013/14

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest Position Revised Implementation Date

1. The ICT Manager reviews 
the ICT Security policy to 
ensure that it is:

 Up to date
 Conforms to industry 

standards
 Consistent and free 

from ambiguity
 Reviewed on a regular 

basis
 Underpinned by 

effective procedures
 Monitored for 

compliance

High Agreed Action:  The 
next review of the 
Information Security 
Policy will take into 
account the points made 
in this recommendation.  
As part of that process, 
the value and 
practicality of 
developing the various 
procedures and 
processes discussed in 
the course of the audit 
will be considered and if 
judged worthwhile 
progressed further. 

Responsible Officer:  
ICT Manager

Recommendation 
Implementation Date:  
December 2014

Further progress has been 
made and while most underlying 
and supporting policies have 
been reviewed further work is 
required to pull them together -
now expected Spring 2017. 

ICT Manager -15/11/16

Internal Audit Comment: 
In view of the latest update from 
management, Internal Audit will 
continue to liaise with the ICT 
Manager and advise the Board 
further at the Board meeting in 
June 2017.



APPENDIX B

Page 4 of 16

3. The ICT Manager 
prepares a documented 
Disaster Recovery plan and 
ensures that this is 
communicated to relevant 
staff, regularly tested and 
reviewed to ensure that it is 
effective.

High Agreed Action:  
a) The matter is 

intrinsically linked 
with the wider 
business continuity 
plans of the                               
Council and the 
Managing Director 
and Building Control 
Manager in his 
Emergency Planning/ 
Business Continuity 
role and ICT 
Manager are 
involved in the 
discussions. 

Responsible Officer:  
ICT manager 

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
On going

Internal Audit Comment: 
The issue detailed in this recommendation had been identified 
during the recent Business Continuity and Emergency Planning 
2016/17 audit and will now be followed up as recommendation 2 of 
that review.

The timescale for implementation is between September 2016 and 
November 2017 and Internal Audit will advise the Board 
accordingly at the meeting in January 2018.  



APPENDIX B

Page 5 of 16

Audit: HR Contract Including Payroll 2014/15

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

4. Service management 
should review the need for  
call out payments and 
establish what further action 
is required. 

The Managing Director has 
added that any change to 
call out payments can only 
be at a reduced cost 
compared to the previous 
arrangements.

Medium Agreed Action: 
Agreed. A review is 
currently underway to 
address this matter and 
implement revised 
procedures. 

Responsible Officer:  
Community Safety 
Manager

Recommendation 
Implementation Date: 
October 2015

The Community Safety Manager advised that the service is 
currently being reviewed and a couple of options are being 
considered, including shared services with Gravesham Borough 
Council.  Both options aim to reduce the costs of the service and 
call out payments. A decision will be made at the end of March 
2017, however, if the shared service option is progressed it will be 
a challenge to meet this deadline.

Community Safety Manager – 30/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment from management, Internal Audit will 
continue to liaise with the Community Safety Manager regarding 
progress of this matter and will advise the Audit Board further, at 
the June 2017 meeting of the Board.  



APPENDIX B

Page 6 of 16

Audit: Data Protection & Freedom of Information 2015/16
Recommendation Priority/ 

ranking
Original response Latest position + (source) Revised Implementation Date

1. Every 6 months a report 
should be issued to Service 
Directors and/or Heads of 
Service which shows which 
officers have completed the 
training module for DPA and 
FOI awareness.

The report will allow 
management to identify 
DBC employees who have 
not yet completed the on 
line training. Measures can 
then be taken to ensure 
employees comply with the 
Council’s mandatory training 
requirements.

Medium Agreed Action:  
Agreed

Responsible 
Officer:  HR 
Business Advisor. 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

Recommendation 
Implementation 
Date: December 
2015

The HR Business Advisor informed 
Internal Audit that due to other 
priorities this year, a review of the 
current e-learning system had not been 
completed and that Ivysoft would be 
reviewed for the contract renewal in 
October 2017.   In the meantime, all 
staff were advised in their annual 
performance appraisal that the online 
training must be completed annually.

HR Business Advisor – 17/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment 
from management, Internal Audit 
will continue to liaise with the HR 
Business Advisor regarding 
progress of this matter and will 
advise the Audit Board further, at 
the January 2018 meeting of the 
Board.  In the meantime, this 
matter will also be covered during 
the next audit of this area.

3. The current on line 
training modules for DPA 
and FOI need to be 
reviewed to see if they are 
still fit for purpose and meet 
the Council’s needs.

Medium Agreed Action 
Agreed 
Responsible 
Officer:  ICT 
Manager/ HR 
Business 
Advisor/Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services) 
Recommendation 
Implementation 
Date: December 
2015

As above. As above.



APPENDIX B

Page 7 of 16

Audit: Disabled Facilities Grants 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

2. Consider a formal 
meeting between the DFG 
Service and Housing IT 
support team. We would 
suggest* that the following is 
considered:

 Formally record the 
meeting

 Prepare a formal 
agenda

 Prepare an agreed 
time based action 
plan, prioritised and 
assigned to 
individuals

 Meeting outcome is 
fed back to relevant 
senior management

Note*should be considered 
as a minimum, this is not 
intended to be exhaustive.

Medium Agreed Action:   There is currently 
a list of cases that IT have worked 
on and the DFG team need to 
review to access any resolution. 
Following this, a formal meeting with 
IT will be arranged and review 
meetings thereafter.

Responsible Officer:  Senior 
Private Sector Housing Officer

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: February 2016

Unfortunately, getting through the backlog is taking longer 
than anticipated due to the length of time it takes to 
resolve each individual case on the Uniform Database 
and other workload levels. The resolution of these cases 
on the Uniform system does not have any impact on 
service as these cases have already been processed and 
paid.  Realistically, we need another couple of months to 
get through all these.

Senior Private Sector Housing Officer – 28/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment from management, Internal 
Audit will continue to liaise with the Senior Private Sector 
Housing Officer regarding progress of this matter and will 
advise the Audit Board further, at the April 2017 meeting 
of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 8 of 16

Audit: Parking Services 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

3. Sickness absence and 
the impact on effectiveness 
should be identified in the 
operational risk register 
together with the internal 
controls already introduced 
and any further actions 
identified.

Low Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Transport 
Services Manager 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 01/04/17

Internal Audit Comment
This recommendation is not yet due and its progress will 
be reported at the June 2017 meeting of the Board.

4. As noted in previous 
reviews the purchase of new 
machines which have 
advanced self-diagnostic 
facilities (which allows 
remote ticket and coinage 
monitoring together with 
malfunction warnings) and 
reduce the risk of:

 The malfunction of 
old machines

 Officer access to 
machines

 Obsolete and 
unsupported 
machines

Usage of revised 
performance data should 
identify the areas where 
these new machines would

Medium Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Transport 
Services Manager 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 31/10/16

The purchase of replacement machines is in excess of 
£100k with ongoing revenue commitments. There has 
been a change in the way people use our parking places 
and therefore we are taking the opportunity to review the 
way in which we manage our facilities to encourage the 
right type of user to use the most appropriate facilities. 
The P&D machine replacement project is more 
complicated than simply replacing the machines; parking 
management for a regenerating town centre surrounded 
and engulfed by significant residential and 
commercial developments requires proper thought and 
planning.

Transport Services Manager – 18/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Transport Services Manager 
regarding progress of this matter and will advise the Audit 
Board further, at the June 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 9 of 16

be best placed and utilised. 
Futureproofing should also 
be considered with the need 
to reduce the number of 
cash machines.

A revised plan regarding the 
upgrade of identified 
machines must be 
formulated and approved to 
ensure implementation as 
soon as possible to address 
the above risks.

Audit: Safeguarding 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1.That a full review of all 
posts in the Council that 
require a DBS check is 
undertaken and to ensure 
that all members of staff in 
these posts have an up-to-
date DBS check.

Medium Agreed Action:  Yes

Responsible Officer:  HR Business 
Advisor

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: September 2016

The full review of posts is almost complete and following 
this we will ensure that all required DBS checks are up-to-
date.  Target Date 31st December 2016 for completion of 
both parts.

HR Business Advisor – 17/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the HR Business Advisor regarding progress 
of this matter and will advise the Audit Board further, at 
the April 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 10 of 16

Audit: Human Resources 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

2. Although all the relevant 
HR policies are available to 
officers they need to be 
reviewed urgently, to ensure 
that they incorporate latest 
guidance, or statutory 
requirements and to ensure 
fitness for purpose.  A 
timescale and priority list 
should be agreed with 
senior management to 
ensure that the review 
process commences 
promptly to ensure that the 
most urgent and important 
policies are reviewed 
without further delay. 

High Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  HR Business 
Advisor 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 01/10/16

The HR Business Advisor informed Internal Audit that an 
HR Policy Advisor, would be recruited on a six-month 
contract, to develop new and existing HR policies and 
procedures, to provide a full suite of policies.  Target date 
for completion -  June 2017.

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the HR Business Advisor regarding progress 
of this matter and will advise the Audit Board further, at 
the September 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 11 of 16

Audit: Payroll 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

2. Consideration should be 
given to providing flow chart 
instructions on the intranet 
of how the process works 
for both leavers and 
starters. This would then aid 
the process and improve 
efficiency. 

Low Agreed Action:  Agreed – BT has 
been approached to assist with this 
and are working on some revised 
instructions

Responsible Officer:  HR Business 
Advisor

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 31/10/16

The HR Business Advisor informed Internal Audit that an 
HR Policy Advisor, would be recruited on a six-month 
contract, to develop and document all HR processes as 
process maps.  Target date for completion -  June 2017.

HR Business Advisor – 17/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the HR Business Advisor regarding progress 
of this matter and will advise the Audit Board further, at 
the September 2017 meeting of the Board.

3. Compilation of payroll 
procedures together with 
checklists should be 
undertaken. Showing clear 
guidance and include step 
by step instruction in all 
aspects of running the 
payroll process.

Medium Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Insurance 
and Payroll Assistant

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 31/7/16

This work is in progress and a revised implementation 
date of the end of Feb 2017 has been agreed.

Insurance and Payroll Assistant – 15/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Insurance and Payroll Assistant 
regarding progress of this matter and will advise the Audit 
Board further, at the June 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 12 of 16

Audit: Regeneration & Planning 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1) Staff awareness of the 
‘Corporate Governance 
Briefing’ (recently published 
on the intranet) should be 
included in the staff 
appraisal process. The 
briefing should also be 
included in the induction 
process for new staff.

2)  The relaunch of the Anti 
– Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy should be used to 
focus staff attention on the 
strategy. For example, 
managers should be made 
fully aware of their duty to 
prevent fraud. 

Low Agreed Action:  1) Agreed. 2) 
Agreed.

Responsible Officer:   
1) Strategic Director (Internal 
Services)/HR Business Advisor

2) Audit Risk and Anti –Fraud 
Manager

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 30 September 2016

1) Completed.

HR Business Advisor – 6/7/16

2) Due to the long term absence of the Audit Risk and 
Anti-Fraud Manager the Anti-Fraud and Corruption 
Strategy is being reviewed by the Principal Auditor.  
Internal Audit will advise the Board at the next meeting in 
April 2017 of its progress.



APPENDIX B

Page 13 of 16

Audit: Collection & Enforcement of Debt 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1. Going forward 
consideration should be 
given to incorporating the 
Good Practice Protocol 
recommended by the 
Citizen’s Advice Bureau into 
the Revenues existing and 
proposed enforcement 
strategies. 

Low Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Recovery 
Team Manager 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: August 2016.

Prioritised action plans for the sections have now been 
drawn up and inclusion of the Good Practice Protocol has 
been scheduled for the end of December 2016.

Recovery Team Manager - 16/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Recovery Team Manager regarding 
progress of this matter and will advise the Audit Board 
further, at the April 2017 meeting of the Board.

2. The calculation of time 
and resources used to 
pursue sundry debt arrears 
should be formally 
documented. This would 
allow Sundry Debtor 
Management to make an 
informed decision on 
whether it is cost effective to 
continue pursuing a 
particular debt. (Especially If 
the accumulated costs of 
recovering the debt will 
exceed the value of the 
debt).  

Low Agreed Action:  Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Senior 
Finance & Procurement Officer 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: November 2016

It was hoped that a test sample of a number of sundry 
debts, to take to court would be available, to enable 
documentation of the process and officer time as well as 
real costs, but currently a batch has not been available. A 
single invoice to pursue is available and will be used to 
gauge costs etc. The revised implementation date for this 
recommendation would be the end of December 2016.

Senior Finance & Procurement Officer – 15/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Senior Finance & Procurement Officer 
regarding progress of this matter and will advise the Audit 
Board further, at the April 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 14 of 16

Audit: Channel Shift 2016/17

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

1. a) A corporate mission 
statement for the 
development of Channel 
Shift initiatives should be 
agreed and documented by 
the Directorate and shared 
with the Management Team.

b) Once a corporate mission 
statement has been agreed 
a plan for implementing the 
mission statement should be 
prepared. This plan should 
be endorsed and monitored 
by the Management Team.

High Agreed Action: Yes

Responsible Officer: Senior 
Management Team led by Director 
of Internal Services.
                                    
Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 30-11-16

a) The mission statement was taken to Management 
Team on 31 October 2016 and was endorsed. 

b) A detailed action plan will now be prepared.

Strategic Director (Internal Services) – 16/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment from senior management, 
Internal Audit will continue to liaise with the Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) regarding progress of the 
action plan and will advise the Audit Board further, at the 
June 2017 meeting of the Board.

3. a) Each DBC webpage 
should have a review date 
evident on it. This review 
date will signify when details 
on the webpage need to be 
reviewed or updated. 
b) Once a review date has 
been determined for each 
webpage a quarterly report 
should be produced by the 
IT section which shows 
which DBC webpages have 
not been reviewed /changed

Medium Agreed Action: Yes

Responsible Officer: E-Business & 
Development Manager 

Recommendation Implementation 
Date: 30-11-16

a) An automated system is now in place that flags up 
website pages that are due for review if they have not 
been touched for six months. An email is generated 
and sent to the appropriate manager asking them to 
review the page – part a) complete.

b) The report is currently ready to run, but it has not been 
trialled yet due to the fact that departments were to be 
given at least a month to carry out webpage reviews.  
The process is being implemented section at a time to 
make it more manageable.  The process is about 75% 
complete and once this system has been rolled out 
completely after a month, a report will be produced.



APPENDIX B

Page 15 of 16

even though the review date 
has expired. For example, 
the report could show the 
number of pages not 
reviewed per department. 
This. report should then be 
distributed to the 
Management Team for 
follow up and monitoring 
purposes.

E-Business & Development Manager – 16/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment from management, Internal 
Audit will continue to liaise with the E-Business & 
Development Manager regarding progress of part b) and 
will advise the Audit Board further, at the June 2017 
meeting of the Board.

Audit: Significant Contracts 2015/16

Recommendation Priority/ 
ranking

Original response Latest position + (source)

2. Going forward the 
Council’s procurement team 
should be consulted to 
assist with evaluating the 
true value of a proposed 
contract whilst ensuring the 
Council’s procurement 
policy, financial regulations 
and standing orders are 
complied with. 

Low Agreed Action:  The Procurement 
Team confirmed the guidance 
manual will be reviewed to ensure 
wording around evaluating the value 
of a proposed contract is clear. 

Responsible Officer:  Principal 
Procurement & Finance Officer

Recommendation Implementation 
Date:  June  2016

Working out the price of a contract is contained in the 
procurement guide.  The guide is currently being updated 
and the new version should be available in the new year.

Principal Procurement & Finance Officer – 23/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment, Internal Audit will continue 
to liaise with the Principal Finance & Procurement Officer 
regarding progress of this matter and will advise the Audit 
Board further, at the June 2017 meeting of the Board.



APPENDIX B

Page 16 of 16

3a) Complete review of 
procurement risk framework 
to be included in the 
procurement document. 

3b) Effective training on risk 
assessment of contracts 
should be required for DBC 
officers responsible for 
assessing risks relating to 
specific contracts

Low Agreed Action: Agreed

Responsible Officer:  Audit Risk & 
Anti-Fraud Manager/Procurement 
Working Group 
  
Recommendation Implementation 
Date: February 2016

a) Complete

Senior Procurement & Finance officer – 15/11/16

b) The Financial Services Manager will be putting some 
training together as part of the quarterly procurement 
officers group.

Strategic Director (Internal Services) – 17/11/16

Internal Audit Comment:
In view of the latest comment from senior management, 
Internal Audit will continue to liaise with the Financial 
Services Manager regarding progress of part b) and will 
advise the Audit Board further, at the June 2017 meeting 
of the Board.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE 
BOARD

1. Summary

1.1 This report is to inform Audit Board Members of the outcomes of the audits 
completed since the previous report to the Board on 21 September 2016 and 
to provide Members with the opportunity to request clarification or further 
information, if considered necessary.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members review the summary details of audits completed.

2.2 That Members consider whether they require clarification or further information 
at the next meeting of the Board.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In addition to the approval of the Annual Internal Audit Plan and 
consideration of progress of the Audit Plan, the terms of reference of 
the Audit Board also requires the Board to consider the outcome of 
Internal Audit Report findings.

3.2. To this effect, the Board receives reports on the outcomes of 
completed  audit reviews at each meeting and is able to seek further 
details and/or explanations from managers, where required.

3.3. Appendix A of this report sets out details of the ten audit reports which 
have been finalised since the last meeting of the Board and the opinion 
for each review. 

3.4. Appendix B provides a brief summary of each final audit report with an 
audit opinion of Limited Assurance or below, along with details of the 
recommendations agreed with management to address any areas of 
concern, or areas requiring further development. Members can be 
provided with copies of full final audit reports on request

The Opinion breakdown of the reports are as follows:

 Framework - Good – 1; Satisfactory - 1
 Compliance – Good 1; Satisfactory – 1
 Full Assurance – 1 (New Audit Opinion)
 Substantial Assurance – 4 (New Audit Opinion)
 Limited Assurance – 2 (New Audit Opinion)
 Guidance Audit – (No Opinion/) - 1

In addition to the above, twenty-seven recommendations were agreed with 
management regarding the ten reports, of which two were high, thirteen were 
medium risks and twelve low risk.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

3.5. The standard definition of opinions used by the Internal Audit Section 
for 2015/16 audit reviews, is detailed in Appendices C and D. It 
provided two opinions, Framework and Compliance: Framework 
referred to the framework of controls in place to manage the risks of 
non-delivery of objectives, whilst Compliance referred to the degree of 
compliance with established controls. However, there is a new process 
in place for audit reviews, commencing with those reviews undertaken 
in 2016/17 and going forward. A single opinion will be given, which will 
either be Full Assurance, Substantial Assurance, Limited Assurance or 
No Assurance. Full details of which are provided in Appendix E.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
4.1 Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment The Board is required to receive and consider 
reports from the Audit Manager on progress of 
the Internal Audit Plan. This report addresses the 
risk of non-compliance with the Board’s terms of 
reference; and demonstrates that the Council’s 
Internal Audit Function is fulfilling its role as a 
provider of independent assurance to the Board 
and the Council, regarding the Council’s 
arrangements to manage identifiable risks in 
delivering Council objectives.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Final audit reports issued since the last meeting of the       
Board.

Appendix B – Summary of findings for reports where the opinion is 
Limited Assurance or below.

 DBC2-15/16 Risk Management 2015/16
 DBC25-15/16 Channel Shift 2016/17
 DBC29-16/17 Transparency Code 2016/17
 DBC28-15/16 Significant Contracts 2015/16



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

 DBC3-16/17 Fairfield Review 2016/17
 DBC27-16/17 Business Continuity & Emergency

Planning 2016/17
 DBC1-16/17 Fraud & Error Reduction 22016/17
 DBC17-16/17 Kent Resource Partnership 2015/16
 DBC21-16/17 Use of Consultants & Agency Staff

2016/17
 DBC18-16/17 Planning Applications 2016/17

Appendix C, D & E- Definition of Audit Opinions.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Internal Audit Plan 2015/16
Internal Audit Plan 2016/17

March 
2015 & 
2016

Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
(01322) 343023

Internal 
Audit/ 
Strategic 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

FINAL AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED SINCE THE LAST MEETING OF THE BOARD

Recommendation Risks

Audit title Final 
Report 
Issued

Opinion
Framework/Compliance

Comments where the opinion is 
below Satisfactory and for 2016/17 

where the Audits are of Limited 
Assurance or below

High Medium Low

Framework: Good1 DBC2/15/16 Risk 
Management 
2015/16

12.9.16

Compliance: Good
0 1 2

2 DBC25-16/17 
Channel Shift 
2016/17

13.9.16 Audit Opinion: Limited 
Assurance 1 2 1

3 DBC29-16/17 
Transparency 
Code 2016/17

14.9.16 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 1 1

Framework: Satisfactory4 DBC28-15/16 
Significant 
Contracts 
2015/16

14.9.16
Compliance: Satisfactory

0 2 7

5 DBC3-16/17 
Fairfield Review 
2016/17

28.09.16 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 1 0



APPENDIX A

6 DBC27-16/17 
Business 
Continuity & 
Emergency 
Planning 2016/17

5.10.16 Audit Opinion: Limited 
Assurance 1 2 0

7 DBC1-16/17 
Fraud and Error 
Reduction 
Incentive Scheme 
(FERIS) 2016/17

10.10.16 Audit Opinion: Full 
Assurance 0 0 1

8 DBC17-16/17 
Kent Resource 
Partnership and 
Potential West 
Kent Joint Waste 
Project 2016/17

20.10.16

This audit was for guidance 
purposes only and did not 
follow the standard audit 
process and therefore an 
audit opinion has not been 
given.

0 0 0

9 DBC21-16/17 
Use of 
Consultants & 
Agency Staff 
2016/17

2.11.16 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 3 0

10 DBC18-16/17 
Planning 
Applications 
2016/17

11.11.16 Audit Opinion: Substantial 
Assurance 0 1 0



APPENDIX B

Review of Channel Shift 2016/17                               Issued: 13 September 2016

Opinion: Limited assurance 
Previous Review: No previous review 

The purpose of this review was to provide an assurance on the Council’s 
arrangements for Channel Shift which included effectiveness of its Channel Shift 
strategy and communication of its Channel Shift arrangements to Officers and the 
General Public. Key areas examined were the Council’s approach to implementing 
Channel Shift initiatives and whether the initiatives were being effectively 
supported and encouraged by service managers and other key stakeholders.

 To this effect, the following key risks and controls were examined:

1. Risk that the Channel Shift arrangements may not take into account national 
guidance or good practice.
 

2. Risk that an agreed strategy for the development of Channel Shift may not be 
in place.

3. Risk that service departments may not consider Channel Shift to be their 
priority.

4. Risk that the Channel Shift initiative may not have been effectively 
communicated to the Public or to Council Officers.

5. Risk that planned and proposed initiatives by the IT department may not have 
been effectively implemented.

6. Risk that opportunities to achieve or demonstrate efficiency or value for 
money may not be maximised, for example using benchmarking to assess 
performance with other local authorities.

7. Risk that fraud and corruption may be undetected, for example the self 
service facilities allow unauthorised transaction.

8. Risk that Operational and Strategic risk assessments of the channel shift 
process may not be undertaken in accordance with Council’s policy and risks 
are not adequately managed 

Audit testing results indicated that controls were fully met in three of the aspects 
examined, whilst five aspects were partially met in relation to compliance. (Risks 
2,3,4,5 and 6). 

The opinion of the auditor was that there is Limited Assurance in place to ensure 
achievement of service objectives pertaining to the audited system. This meant 



APPENDIX B

there were weaknesses identified within the framework and there existed evidence 
of non-compliance with Council procedures or good practice, which put the 
achievement of the Council’s or service objectives, in many of the areas reviewed, 
at risk.

The following four recommendations were agreed with Management to address 
the areas where controls were partially met. These relate to risks 2,3,4,5 and 6.

 A corporate mission statement for the development of Channel Shift 
initiatives should be agreed and documented by the Directorate and shared 
with the Management Team. Once a corporate mission statement has been 
agreed a plan for implementing the mission statement should be prepared. 
This plan should be endorsed and monitored by the Management Team.

 Back office support needs to cope with the increased demand arising from 
Channel Shift initiatives. Therefore, a review of existing back office support 
arrangements should be discussed as part of the officer review of services 
that will commence in September 2016.The risk implications for on line 
council services which cannot be supported by back office systems outside 
normal council hours needs to be considered by the Management Team.

 Each DBC webpage should have a review date evident on it. This review 
date will signify when details on the webpage need to be reviewed or 
updated.
Once a review date has been determined for each webpage a quarterly 
report should be produced by the IT section which shows which DBC 
webpages have not been reviewed /changed even though the review date 
has expired. For example, the report could show the number of pages not 
reviewed per department. This. report should then be distributed to the 
Management Team for follow up and monitoring purposes.

 Consideration should be given to whether the Council’s existing 
arrangements for publicising the Council’s webpage services are delivering 
or will help to deliver the desired outcomes. This could be considered as 
part of the Council’s strategy for migrating services to self-service web 
based facilities.

Members will be advised of the progress in implementing these recommendations 
in due course.

Review of Business Continuity &                                    Issued: 5 October 2016
Emergency Planning 2016/17

Opinion: Limited assurance 
Previous Review: There has not been an audit of this subject in recent years

The purpose of this audit was to provide assurance on the Council’s arrangements 
for the continuation of Council business, in the event of a disaster, including the 



APPENDIX B

emergency planning arrangements impacting on the public. This audit examined 
the effectiveness of the arrangements to facilitate continuity of the Council 
business and to enable a swift return to business as usual and minimise the impact 
on the community of environmental incidences, for example, flooding. The review 
also provided assurance regarding the effectiveness of the arrangements to act 
quickly and efficiently in meeting the needs of the relevant stakeholders

To this effect, the following key risks and controls were examined:

Risks Examined Opinion
1 The Council may not comply with relevant legislation, for 

example the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, and Council 
policy and procedures.  

Full Assurance

2 Emergency and Business Continuity Plans may not be 
current, authority wide or valid.

Limited Assurance

3 There may be failure in the delivery of critical 
services.

Limited Assurance

4 There could be insufficient availability of staff to ensure 
continued service delivery.

Full Assurance

5 Access to resources, goods and services could be 
restricted or withdrawn.

Substantial 
Assurance

6 Transport links to and through areas could be 
restricted or compromised.

Full Assurance

7 Fraud and corruption may be undetected. Full Assurance
8 Opportunities to achieve or demonstrate efficiency 

or value for money may not be maximised.
Full Assurance

9 Risk assessments may not be undertaken and risks 
not adequately managed.

Full Assurance

Audit testing results indicated that controls were fully met in seven of the aspects 
examined, whilst two aspects were partially met in relation to compliance. (Risks 2 
and 3 which had limited assurance).

The overall opinion of the auditor was that there is Limited Assurance in place to 
ensure achievement of service objectives pertaining to the audited system. This 
meant that there were weaknesses identified within the framework and there exists 
evidence of non – compliance with Council procedures or good practice, which put 
the achievement of the Council’s or service objectives, in many of the areas 
reviewed at risk. The findings of the review can be summarised as follows;

 Business Continuity Plans may not be current, authority wide or valid.
 Risk of failure in the delivery of critical services particularly if the Information 

Communication Technology infrastructure is not in place at the Disaster 
Recovery site.

 The Major Emergency Plan needs to be updated to take into account 
changes in personnel and responsibility for corporate properties. 

Agreed Recommendations



APPENDIX B

The following three recommendations were agreed with Management to address 
the areas where controls were partially met. These relate to risks 2 and 3. 
 

 In depth testing of departmental business continuity plans should take place 
to ensure that they are fit for purpose.

 Complete the establishment of Information and Communication and   
Technology (ICT) Disaster Recovery (DR) site and develop documented 
procedures to invoke DR and test the ICT DR process, which will include:

1) Review the overall arrangements for Business continuity in the event that the 
Civic Centre was damaged such that its offices, IT systems and links were 
not usable.

2) Review the individual services Business Continuity Plans as a whole in the 
light of the improved ICT DR facilities and recognise the limitations as there 
will not be capacity for 300 people to connect remotely from wherever to work 
as normal. This raises the need to include questions about how would it be 
decided who was granted that access, bearing mind the interdependencies 
between services.

3) The individual service business continuity plans already refer to the loss of 
ICT and the backing up of data and they should also consider what 
equipment and/or facilities are required and after what period of time they will 
be able to remotely connect to some or all of their systems to get back to 
normal.

4) Implement current plans about changes to the provision of the Council’s 
Telephony that would greatly improve the speed with which it could be 
recovered quickly.

 The section of the Major Emergency Plan (MEP) that deals with Finance 
should be updated to take account of staff changes, for example the post of 
Head of Finance and Resources no longer exists and should, for the most 
part refer to the Financial Services Manager. Also, the responsibility for 
corporate properties should be clearly indicated.

Members will be advised of the progress in implementing these recommendations in 
due course.



APPENDIX C

AUDIT OPINIONS (2015/16 AUDITS ONLY)

 

Framework – the systems in place and controls within it.  

The first opinion refers to the framework of controls in place to manage the risks. 
This refers to the controls in place established by management to manage the risks 
which could prevent the achievement of service objectives.  The review of the 
framework is designed to identify areas where there are control gaps, or a need to 
enhance existing controls. It will then make recommendations for additional or 
improved controls.

Effectiveness – the effectiveness of the controls in place.

This opinion refers to the effectiveness of existing controls.  This refers to the 
degree of compliance with established controls. Compliance with established 
controls is what makes a system effective, assuming that the controls are strong 
enough to facilitate the effective management of identifiable risks and the delivery 
of objectives. Substantive testing is undertaken to assess the degree of 
compliance. The higher the degree of compliance, the more effective the system 
would be in delivering objectives. Testing will identify where controls are not 
achieving the required outcomes, or where they are not being followed.  
Recommendations will then be made to either strengthen or enforce compliance 
with existing controls.

No compliance testing will be undertaken where no framework exists.  However, 
weakness or threat testing may be undertaken, in order to establish the extent of 
the risk, or the potential loss to the Council.

Additionally, to support this new approach, the opinions have been redefined and 
the revised definitions are below.



APPENDIX D

DEFINITION OF AUDIT OPINIONS (2015/16 AUDITS ONLY)

Opinion Framework  Compliance (Effectiveness)

Excellent … innovative frameworks 
are in place, which 
demonstrate efficiencies 
and excellent value for 
money, whilst ensuring the 
achievement of service 
objectives, good corporate 
governance and high level 
of protection for the 
council against 
foreseeable risks.

… there is full compliance with the 
framework of controls and the risk 
management process is considered to 
be fully effective. There is evidence of 
notable practice and no areas of 
concern were identified.

Minimum 
requirement

All controls are in place All controls are fully implemented

Good … a high level of control 
framework is in place to 
ensure the achievement of 
service objectives, good 
corporate governance and 
to protect the Council 
against foreseeable risks.  

… the framework of controls is 
substantially being complied with and 
risk management process is considered 
to be good. Only minor errors or 
omissions identified

Minimum 
requirement

All controls are in place 51% or above of risks examined are low 
and the remainder are medium. Limited 
room for further development

Satisfactory … controls exist to enable 
the achievement of 
service objectives, obtain 
good corporate 
governance and mitigate 
against significant 
foreseeable risks.  

… occasional instances of failure to 
comply with the control process were 
identified and opportunities still exist to 
mitigate further against potential risks.

Minimum 
requirement

Control requirements are 
substantially met

Up to 50% of risks examined are 
medium or low. Opportunities for further 
developments exists requiring 
constructive proposals for management 
consideration

Un- 
satisfactory

… limited controls are in 
place but there are gaps in 
the process, which leave 
the service exposed to 
foreseeable risks. Hence 
further development in 
framework is needed to 

... there is an urgent need to introduce 
additional controls and improve 
compliance with existing controls, to 
reduce the risk exposure to the Council.



APPENDIX D

make the system effective.

Minimum 
requirement

Control requirements are 
patchy  and unreliable

Testing results identified one or more 
high risk

Un- 
acceptable

… controls are considered 
to be inadequate or non-
existent with the absence 
of at least one critical 
control mechanism.   An 
urgent need exists to 
introduce appropriate level 
of controls without delay.

… failure to urgently improve controls 
leaves the Council exposed to significant 
risk, which could lead to major financial 
loss, embarrassment, or failure to 
achieve key service objectives.
Note: compliance testing in this 
circumstance may not add value. 
However, there would be some value in 
conducting weakness testing in some 
circumstances to determine the level of 
“threat” or “loss” to the Council. Hence 
an opinion for compliance may not be 
given where the framework is 
“unacceptable”

Minimum 
requirement

No evidence of controls 
exist

Testing results identified one or more 
very high risk



APPENDIX E

DEFINITIONS OF AUDIT OPINIONS (FOR 2016/17 AUDITS, GOING 
FORWARD)

OPINION DEFINITIONS
Full Assurance
(Implies no High or 
Medium Risk 
Recommendations)

A sound framework of control is in place that meets the 
Council’s or service objectives. All expected controls 
tested are in place and are operating effectively.

No specific follow-up review will be undertaken; follow-
up will be undertaken as part of the next planned review 
of the system.

Substantial Assurance 
(Implies no High Risk 
Recommendations) 

There is generally a sound framework of control in place 
designed to meet the Council’s or service objectives. 
However, there are isolated weaknesses in design of 
controls, or inconsistent application of controls, which 
puts the achievement of a limited number of objectives 
at risk.

Follow up of medium priority recommendations only will 
be undertaken within 3 to 6 months; follow up of low 
priority recommendation will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

Limited Assurance Weaknesses identified within the framework and there 
exist evidence of non-compliance with Council 
procedures or good practice, which puts the 
achievement of the Council’s or service objectives in 
many of the areas reviewed at risk.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.

No Assurance Absent or non-existent evidence of framework; 
fundamental weaknesses identified within design; 
operation of key controls has resulted in failure, or could 
result in failure to achieve the Council’s or service 
objectives in the areas reviewed.

Follow-up of high and medium priority recommendations 
only will take place within 3 to 6 months; follow-up of low 
priority recommendations will be undertaken as part of 
the next planned review of the system.



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

SELECTIVE INVOICE CHECKS

1. Summary

1.1 During the September 2016 meeting of the Board, Members selected five 
creditor payments for checking. This report summarises the findings of that 
exercise and provides the opportunity for Members to select further payments 
for audit checking. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That Members note the content of this report and request any further 
explanations required.

2.2 That Members select further payments for checking by Internal Audit, under 
the confidential section of the agenda.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. It is a regular feature of the Audit Board’s work for Members to select a 
sample of payments made by the Council for review by Internal Audit, 
and to receive a report on the findings of these checks at the next 
meeting of the Board.  This is intended to provide Members with 
reasonable assurance that goods and services commissioned or 
procured, for which payments have been made, are in compliance with 
Council procedures. In particular, that they have been properly 
authorised, requisitioned, ordered and received, prior to making the 
appropriate payments.

3.2. During the meeting of the Board on 21 September 2016, Members 
selected the following five payments for checking:

 Lawson Villas Ltd £1316.00 (Gross)
 Lawson Villas Ltd £2100.00 (Gross)
 Leeds Building Society £2510.76 (Gross)
 Low Carbon Exchange Ltd  £21161.04 (Gross)
 Lyreco UK Ltd £365.04 (Gross)

4. Summary of Findings

4.1 The results of the Internal Audit review, confirmed that all the spend 
decisions made were appropriate and in compliance with Council 
procedures. Detailed summaries of the outcome of each payment are 
set out below.

5. Detailed Findings

5.1 Lawson Villas Ltd (£1316.00) – This payment to Lawson Villas Ltd was 
for the supply of temporary accommodation for the period 7 May 2016 
to 13 May 2016 at three properties in the Borough. Checks on the 



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

Cedar financial system have confirmed that the invoice, received on 8 
June 2016, had been appropriately authorised by the Housing Options 
and Private Sector Manager prior to payment on 16 June 2016. The 
Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council procedures.

5.2 Lawson Villas Ltd (£2100.00) – This payment to Lawson Villas Ltd was 
for the lease of a property in Dartford under the Dartford Private 
Leasing Scheme. Checks of the Cedar financial system have 
confirmed that regular quarterly payments are made to the landlord for 
the two-bedroom property in Dartford.  The current agreement was 
signed on 14 July 2015 and is due to expire in two years from that 
date. The Council have rented this property from the landlord since 
June 2008 and records show that a rental agreement was in place at 
that time. Additional checks have confirmed that necessary inspections 
were carried out prior to the property being let to the tenant.  The 
Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council procedures. 

5.3 Leeds Building Society (£2510.76) – The payment to the Leeds 
Building Society was a mortgage prevention payment which aimed to 
prevent the occupant of a property in Dartford from becoming 
homeless, by early intervention.  The Government provide Local 
Authorities with funding to be used explicitly for the prevention of 
homelessness by responding to the specific needs of their communities 
and by focussing on prevention at an early stage.  In this particular 
case the property was in shared ownership with Moat Housing and the 
tenant had fallen into mortgage arrears due to ill health. The Housing 
Options Team became involved when the case went to court for a 
possession hearing.  The possession order was not granted, due to the 
prevention work carried out by the Housing Options service. The 
Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council procedures.  

5.4 Low Carbon Exchange Ltd (£21161.04) – The payment to Low Carbon 
Exchange Ltd was for the provision of external wall insulation to two 
Dartford Council residential properties, through the Warmer Streets 
project (part of the Green Deal Communities Programme).  Low 
Carbon Exchange Ltd were awarded the contract to carry out the 
remainder of the efficiency installation works in January 2016, after the 
initial contractor’s work was found to be unsatisfactory.  A waiver to this 
effect was signed by the Strategic Director (External Services) on 7 
January 2016.  Purchase orders were raised on the Council’s e-
procurement system and the invoice was paid promptly. The Internal 
Audit review confirmed that the payment was justified and in 
compliance with Council payment procedures.  
 

5.5 Lyreco UK Ltd (£365.04) – At the time Lyreco were the Council’s 
approved and preferred stationery supplier and this particular payment 
to Lyreco was for items of general stationery, ordered between 4 July 



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

2016 and 1 August 2016 by Housing Services (Supported Housing).  
The orders placed, were approved/validated by the Supported Housing 
and Finance Manager.  Lyreco send monthly invoices for approval, 
which amalgamate the orders placed during that month.  This invoice 
was received by the Council on 1 August 2016 and paid promptly on 4 
August 2016. The Internal Audit review confirmed that the payment 
was justified and in compliance with Council payment procedures.  

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment Obtaining goods and services on behalf of the 
Council carries potential inherent risks of fraud, 
or misappropriation. The Selective Invoice 
Checks process is one of many steps employed 
by the Council to manage fraud risks and to 
ensure value for money.

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

None
BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

N/A Prepared on behalf of 
the Audit Manager
01322 343023

Internal Audit / 
Strategic (Internal 
Services)

N/A





AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

FUTURE APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides an update on the arrangements for appointing 
external auditors following the decision of the General Assembly of the 
Council on 12 December 2016 to opt in to the sector-led procurement 
approach. 

2. RECOMMENDATION
     

2.1 That Members note the next steps in the process of appointing external 
auditors.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Reports were presented to the meetings of the Audit Board in March, June 
and September 2016 detailing the changes to the arrangements for 
appointing external auditors following the abolition of the Audit Commission 
and the end of the transitional arrangements at the conclusion of the 
2017/18 audits. 

3.2 The Audit Board subsequently recommended to the General Assembly of 
the Council that the sector led approach to the negotiation and appointment 
of the external auditor be approved as the preferred procurement route. 
This would avoid the need for the Council to establish an auditor panel and 
to undertake an auditor procurement; would result in savings from one 
major procurement exercise as opposed to running individual 
procurements; would secure highly competitive prices from audit firms 
through economies of scale and would ensure the appointment of the same 
auditors to bodies involved in significant collaboration/joint working 
initiatives or across regions. 

3.3 The General Assembly of the Council approved the sector led approach at 
their meeting on 12 December 2016 and the acceptance form has duly 
been sent off to Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA), who have 
been appointed by the Secretary of State to be the sector led body.

 
3.4 As part of the procurement process, PSAA will liaise with those authorities 

that have opted in to understand authorities’ preferences and priorities, so 
as to ensure PSAA develop a procurement strategy that reflects the needs 
of those authorities within the constraints set out in legislation and in 
professional requirements.

3.5 In order to secure the best prices, PSAA are minded to let audit contracts:

 for 5 years;
 in 2 large contract areas nationally, with 3 or 4 contract lots per area, 

depending on the number of authorities that opt in; and



AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

 to a number of firms in each contract area to help manage 
independence issues.

3.6 The value of each contract will depend on the prices bid, with the firms 
offering the best value being awarded larger amounts of work. By having 
contracts with a number of firms, PSAA will be able to manage issues of 
independence and avoid dominance of the market by one or two firms. 
Limiting the national volume of work available to any one firm will 
encourage competition.

3.7 PSAA will ensure that fee levels are carefully managed by securing 
competitive prices from firms and by minimising their own costs. Any 
surplus funds will be returned to scheme members under PSAA’s 
Articles of Association and their Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Department for Communities and Local Government and the LGA.

3.8 PSAA will pool scheme costs and charge fees to audited bodies in 
accordance with a fair scale of fees which has regard to size, complexity 
and audit risk, most likely evidenced by audit fees for 2016/17. Pooling 
means that everyone in the scheme will benefit from the most 
competitive prices. Fees will reflect the number of scheme participants – 
the greater the level of participation, the better the value represented by 
PSAA’s scale fees.

3.9 Contracts are likely to be awarded at the end of June 2017, and at this 
point the overall cost and therefore the level of fees required will be 
clear. PSAA expect to consult on the auditor appointment and the 
proposed scale of fees in Autumn 2017 and to publish the fees 
applicable for 2018/19 in March 2018. Auditor appointments for the audit 
of accounts of the 2018/19 financial year must be made by 31 
December 2017.

3.10 The summary timetable for the audit appointments is as follows:

Invitation to opt in issued 27 October 2016

Contract notice published 20 February 2017

Closing date for receipt of notices to opt in * 9 March 2017

Award audit contracts by end of June 2017

Make auditor appointments December 2017

Consult on and publish scale of fees by March 2018.

* the Council accepted this invitation by email on 13 December 2016 following approval by the 
General Assembly of the Council on 12 December 2016.



AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

4. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The external audit fees for 2016/17 are 
£46,405 (excluding grant certification 
work). The fees have been set at the 
same level as in 2015/16. 

The level of external audit fees under 
the new auditor appointments will be 
determined by a scale of fees reflecting 
size, complexity and audit risk, most 
likely as evidenced by audit fees for 
2016/17. Fees will also reflect the 
number of scheme participants – the 
greater the level of participation, the 
better the value represented by the 
fees. 

PSAA will consult on the proposed scale 
of fees in Autumn 2017 and will publish 
the fees applicable for 2018/19 in March 
2018. 

Legal Implications Section 7 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 requires a 
relevant authority to appoint a local 
auditor to audit its accounts no later 
than 31 December in the preceding 
year. 

Section 17 gives the Secretary of State 
the power to make regulations in 
relation to an ‘appointing person’ 
specified by the Secretary of state. This 
power has been exercised in the Local 
Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 
2015 and this gives the Secretary of 
State the ability to enable a Sector Led 
Body to become the appointing person.

Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment PSAA will only contract with audit firms 

that have a proven track record in 
undertaking public audit work and who 
are registered as local public auditors 
with one of the chartered accountancy 
institutes acting in the capacity of a 
Recognised Supervisory Body (RSB). 
The quality of registered firms’ work will 
also be subject to scrutiny by both the 



AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

RSB and the Financial Reporting 
Council, under arrangements set out in 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014.

PSAA will award contracts to a number 
of firms to manage issues of 
independence and to avoid dominance 
of the market by one or two firms.

5. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

- Sarah Martin
01322 343402

Strategic 
Director  
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



            
AUDIT BOARD

11 JANUARY 2017

Whistleblowing Policy Update 2016

1. Summary

1.1 Section 8 of the Whistleblowing Policy states that the Policy is subject 
to annual review by the appropriate committee, in this instance the 
Audit Board, and will take into consideration the views of users of the 
Policy and any relevant professional or regulatory changes.

1.2 This report sets out the proposed amendments to the Council’s existing 
Whistleblowing Policy which was approved by the Audit Board in 
January 2015. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members review and approve the proposed amendments to the 
Council’s Whistleblowing Policy as set out in Appendix A to the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Whistleblowing Commission was established in February 2013 by 
the Whistleblowing Charity, ‘Public Concern at Work’. The Commission 
produced a code of practice in 2013 which is intended to make 
whistleblowing more effective within organisations and recommends that 
it is rooted in statute. The code could be taken into account in court 
cases and by regulators.

3.2 The Code of Practice provides practical guidance to employers, workers 
and their representatives and sets out recommendations for raising, 
handling, training and reviewing whistleblowing in the work place.

3.3 The Council’s existing Whistleblowing Policy meets the code 
requirements. The Whistleblowing Policy reflects the Council’s existing 
anti-fraud and corruption framework.  

3.4 A sound whistle blowing arrangement is an essential part of good 
governance. The Council is committed to good governance and robust 
anti-fraud and corruption arrangements. 

3.5 As part of the Council’s commitment to equality and diversity, the 
Whistleblowing Policy been subject to a Customer Access Review to 
help ensure that the Policy is inclusive and can be made available to 
anyone that wishes to use or refer to it.

3.6 The existing Whistleblowing Policy is consistent with good practice and 
is attached as Appendix A to this report. Only minor changes have been 



AUDIT BOARD
11 JANUARY 2017

made where appropriate, which in the main, are references made in the 
Policy to the Anti-Fraud Team. Section 8.2 of the Internal Audit Charter, 
states that Internal Audit is responsible for investigating whistle blowing 
incidents. 

3.7 Senior management have approved these amendments which are 
shown below: - 

 The inclusion of a translation and alternative format strapline to the 
front page to inform users that this Policy, if required is available in 
alternative formats. (Page 1)

 References made with regard to contacting the Anti-Fraud Team 
about a whistleblowing concern have been replaced with the Internal 
Audit Team (4.2, 5.2). 

 Additions to Annex 2 (Details of external contacts) to include The 
Comptroller and Auditor General, The Information Commissioner 
and The Health and Safety Executive.

4. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment The Council is required to have sound 

anti-fraud and corruption arrangements 
as part of its overall governance 
framework. 

Appendices

Appendix A – Whistleblowing Policy

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section 
and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Whistleblowing Policy 2015

Whistleblowing Commission 
Code of Practice 2013.
List of Prescribed People and 
Bodies (updated Nov’16)

N/A Prepared 
on behalf 
of the 
Audit 
Manager
01322 
343023

Internal 
Audit

N/A



Appendix A 

1 November 2016

WHISTLEBLOWING 
POLICY

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434
Fax: 01322 343432
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


Appendix A

2 November 2016

CONTENTS Page No.

Whistleblowing Policy

1.0 Overview 3

2.0 Aims and Scope of this Policy 4

3.0 Safeguards 5

3.1 Harassment or Victimisation 5

3.2 Confidentiality 5

3.3 Anonymous Allegations 5

3.4 Untrue Allegations 6

4.0 How to raise a concern 6

5.0 How the Council will respond 7

6.0 The Responsible Officer 8

7.0 How the matter can be pursued 8

8.0 Policy Review 8

9.0 Training, Dissemination and Monitoring 8

10.0 Any Doubts 9

Annex 1  10

Annex 2 11



Appendix A

3 November 2016

Whistleblowing Policy

1.0 Overview

1.1 Dartford Council is committed to having effective whistleblowing 
arrangements, in order to safeguard individuals who have genuine 
cause for raising concerns in the work place and to promote good 
governance and safeguard the public interest.  To facilitate this 
commitment, this whistleblowing policy incorporates both the 
requirements of The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and the 
Whistleblowing Commission’s Code of Practice 2013. The policy also 
underpins the Council’s Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy.   

1.2 Key Requirements of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998:

  (a) is designed to give statutory protection to employees who “blow the 
whistle” on their employer’s malpractice;

(b) although not requiring the employer to set up an appropriate 
mechanism for dealing with whistleblowing, the Act makes clear the 
important role that such a mechanism can play in helping the employer 
comply with the law (a good policy, is one key way, to deliver 
accountability throughout the organisation). To this effect, the Council 
has adopted the Whistleblowing Commission’s Code of Practice 2013, 
which sets out best practice whistleblowing framework for the Public 
Sector.

1.3 The Council aims to mitigate the risk of inappropriate behaviour by 
those undertaking work on behalf of the Council.  To mitigate the risks 
of inappropriate behaviour, the Council refers to this Policy in contracts 
with suppliers and service providers, in the Procurement Guide and in 
its partnership arrangements.

1.4 The Council takes seriously and will investigate all reports of improper 
activities.  This Policy aims to ensure that when concerns are raised, 
the Council will address the concerns and protect the person raising 
the concern. Employees are often the first to realise that there may be 
something seriously wrong within the Council. However, they may not 
express their concerns because they feel that speaking up would be 
disloyal to their colleagues or to the Council. They may also fear 
harassment, victimisation or recrimination from the Council. The 
Council takes its responsibilities for safeguarding public funds and 
assets seriously, as well as safeguarding the well-being of its 
employees. Thus this Policy outlines a framework which provides 
potential whistle-blowers the opportunity to communicate their 
concerns within a safe environment without fear of recrimination.

1.5 The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of 
openness, probity and accountability. In line with that commitment, the 
Council expects employees and others that they deal with who have 



Appendix A

4 November 2016

serious concerns about any aspect of the Council’s work, to come 
forward and voice those concerns. The Council recognises that whistle-
blowers may wish to raise concerns on a confidential basis.

1.6 This Policy applies to all employees (including temporary and agency 
staff), councillors, co-optees, contractors, their agents and/or sub-
contractors, consultants, suppliers and service providers in the course 
of their work for the Council. 

1.7 This Policy does not replace the Council’s Corporate Complaints and 
Grievance Procedures and/or any other statutory reporting procedures 
applying to the Council.

1.8 This Policy furthers the aims of and is complementary to the Code of 
Conduct for Local Government Employees, the Council’s Anti-Fraud 
and Corruption Strategy and the Member Code of Conduct.

2.0 Aims and Scope of this Policy

2.1 This Policy aims to:

 encourage you to feel confident in raising serious concerns and to 
question and act upon concerns in practice

 provide avenues for you to raise those concerns and receive feedback 
on any action taken

 ensure that you receive a response to your concerns and that you are 
aware of how to pursue them if you are not satisfied

 reassure you that you will be protected from possible reprisals or 
victimisation if you have a reasonable belief that you have made any 
disclosure in good faith

2.2 Where you are aggrieved at any matter relating to your own 
employment, then other procedures apply e.g. grievance procedure. 
You must not use the Policy to deal with day to day problems, mistakes 
or general differences of view that arise in your workplace.  Operational 
matters should be raised with management first.

2.3 Examples of the types of concerns this Policy is intended to cover are 
as follows:

 conduct of a criminal nature or a breach of the law;
 bullying, harassment or victimisation of a third party;
 disclosures related to miscarriages of justice;
 health and safety risks, including risks to the public as well as 

other employees;
 damage to the environment;
 the unauthorised use of public funds;
 possible fraud and corruption; including offences falling under 

the Bribery Act 2010;
 sexual or physical abuse of customers;
 breach of Council procedures; or



Appendix A

5 November 2016

 other unethical conduct or malpractice. 

2.4 Any serious concerns that you have about any aspect of service 
provision or the conduct of officers, councillors, co-optees, partners or 
others acting on behalf of the Council, can be reported under this 
Policy. This may be about something that:

 makes you feel uncomfortable in terms of known standards, your 
experience or the standards you believe the Council subscribes 
to; or

 relates for example to a breach of the Council’s Standing Orders, 
Financial Regulations, policies, practices and procedures; or

 falls below established standards of practice; or
 amounts to improper conduct.

3.0 Safeguards

3.1 Harassment or Victimisation

3.1.1 By publicising this Policy, the Council is demonstrating a strong 
commitment to good practice and high standards in protecting its 
employees from harassment and victimisation.

3.1.2 The Council recognises that the decision to report a concern can be a 
difficult one to make. Where you are raising a concern in good faith, 
you will have nothing to fear, because you will be doing your duty to the 
Council and those for whom you are providing a service; as well as 
acting in the wider public interest.

3.1.3 The Council will not tolerate any harassment or victimisation (including 
informal pressures) and will take appropriate action, (which may 
include removal from the workplace of the offending party where 
appropriate) to protect you when you raise a concern in good faith.

3.1.4 If you believe you have suffered or are under threat of suffering 
victimisation or harassment as a result of raising concerns, you may 
also report this concern as set out under section 4 below. 

3.2 Confidentiality

3.2.1 The Council will use its best endeavours to treat in confidence all 
concerns raised and every effort will be made by the Council not to 
reveal your identity without your agreement.  However, it must be 
appreciated that the Council cannot guarantee that any investigation 
process will not reveal the source of the information.  

3.3 Anonymous Allegations

3.3.1 While you are encouraged to put your name to your allegation 
whenever possible, it is recognised that in some instances, employees 
may have genuine concerns about their safety, security of well-being 



Appendix A

6 November 2016

which may preclude them from revealing their identity. Under such 
circumstances, employees may make anonymous complaints or 
allegations. 

3.3.2 Concerns expressed anonymously are much less powerful, but will be 
considered, on their merits, at the discretion of the Council.

3.3.3 In exercising this discretion, the factors to be taken into account will 
include:

 the seriousness of the issues raised;
 the credibility of the concern; and
 the likelihood of confirming the allegation from attributable 

sources and available evidence.

3.4 Untrue Allegations

3.4.1 If you make an allegation in good faith but it is not confirmed by the 
investigation, no action will be taken against you. If, however, you 
make a false or malicious allegation, for an ulterior motive, disciplinary 
action may be taken against you. It is therefore important that you 
ensure your allegation is made in good faith.

4.0 How to raise a concern

4.1 Depending on the seriousness and sensitivity of the issues involved 
and who is suspected of the malpractice, you are encouraged in the 
first instance to raise concerns with your immediate manager or your 
superior.  If the concerns are about management, then contact any one 
of the Officers detailed in Annex 1 to this policy. If your concerns are 
about Audit, then contact the Managing Director and if your concerns 
are about a director then this must be reported immediately to the 
Managing Director. In the unlikely and extreme event that the concern 
impacts on the Managing Director, this should be referred directly to 
the Chair of the Audit Board and copied to the Monitoring Officer.

4.2 Concerns may be raised verbally or in writing. A dedicated Freephone 
telephone number has been set up to allow you to speak in confidence 
to the Internal Audit Team (0800-496-3245).  If you wish to submit your 
concern in writing, send this to the Audit, Risk & Anti-Fraud Manager, 
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent DA1 1DR and mark your 
envelope ‘private and confidential’. Alternatively you can email 
whistleblowing@dartford.gov.uk. 

4.3 You are invited to use the following format:

 the background and history of the concern (giving relevant 
dates);

 the reason why you are particularly concerned about the 
situation.

mailto:whistleblowing@dartford.gov.uk


Appendix A

7 November 2016

4.4 The earlier you express the concern, the easier it is to take action, as 
delays may make it more difficult to obtain the relevant evidence.

4.5 Although you are not expected to prove beyond doubt the truth of an 
allegation, you should ensure that there are reasonable grounds for 
your concern.

4.6 Advice and guidance on how matters of concern may be pursued can 
be obtained from the Audit, Risk & Anti-Fraud Manager, Managing 
Director, relevant Director or Head of Legal Services. 

4.7 You may wish to consider discussing your concern with a colleague 
first and you may find it easier to raise the matter if there are two (or 
more) of you who have had the same experience or concerns.

4.8 Where concerns are raised in person, you may invite your trade union 
representative or a friend to be present during any meetings or 
interviews in connection with the concerns you have raised.

4.9 An officer will be appointed to investigate your concerns.  

5.0 How the Councils will respond

5.1 The Council will take every whistleblowing concern impacting on fraud 
and corruption seriously and will conduct an appropriate investigation.

5.2 Where appropriate, the matters raised may:

 be investigated by senior management and/or the Internal Audit 
Team, or through the disciplinary process;

 be referred to the police;
 be referred to the external auditor; or
 form the subject of an independent inquiry.

5.3 In order to protect individuals and those accused of misdeeds or 
possible malpractice, initial enquiries will be made to decide whether an 
investigation is appropriate and, if so, what form it should take. The 
overriding principle which the Council has in mind, is the public interest. 
Concerns or allegations which fall within the scope of specific 
procedures (for example discrimination issues) will normally be referred 
for consideration under those procedures.

5.4 Some concerns may be resolved by agreed action without the need for 
investigation. If urgent action is required, this will be taken before any 
investigation is conducted.

5.5 Within ten working days of a concern being raised, the investigating 
officer will write to you if you provide your contact details:

 acknowledging that the concern has been received
 indicating how we propose to deal with the matter
 giving an estimate of how long it will take to provide a final 

response
 telling you whether any initial enquiries have been made



Appendix A

8 November 2016

 supply you with information on staff support mechanisms; and
 telling you whether further investigations will take place and if 

not, why not.

5.6 The amount of contact between the investigating officer and you, will 
depend on the nature of the matters raised, the potential difficulties 
involved and the clarity of the information provided. If necessary, the 
investigating officer will seek further information from you.

5.7 Where any meeting is arranged, off-site if you so wish, a union 
representative or professional association representative or a friend 
can accompany you.

5.8 The Council will take steps to minimise any difficulties which you may 
experience as a result of raising a concern. For instance, if you are 
required to give evidence in criminal or disciplinary proceedings, the 
Council will arrange for you to receive advice and support.

5.9 The Council accepts that you need to be assured that the matter has 
been properly addressed. Subject to legal constraints, you will be 
informed of the outcomes of any investigation.

6.0 The Responsible Officer

6.1 The Managing Director has overall responsibility for the maintenance 
and operation of this Policy. A record of concerns raised and the 
outcomes (but in a form which does not endanger your confidentiality) 
is maintained and reported (in such a way as to preserve 
confidentiality), to the Audit Board.

7.0 How the matter can be taken further

7.1 This Policy is intended to provide you with an avenue within the Council 
to raise concerns. The Council hopes you will be satisfied with any 
action taken. If you are not, and if you feel it is right to take the matter 
outside the Council, please refer to the external contacts listed in 
Annex 2.

7.2 If you do take the matter outside the Council, you should ensure that 
you do not disclose confidential information without obtaining further 
advice from any of the Council contacts referred to in Annex 1. 

8.0 Policy review

This Policy will be subject to annual review by the appropriate 
committee.  The review will take into consideration the views of users 
of the Policy and any relevant professional or regulatory changes.  

9. Training, Dissemination and Monitoring

9.1 As part of the Councils’ Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, appropriate 
training will be offered to officers on key aspects of the policy and how 



Appendix A

9 November 2016

it should be implemented. The policy will be available on the Council’s 
website for easy access by staff.  

9.2 The Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report to Members will incorporate a 
summary of whistleblowing events and their outcomes. The external 
auditor will also be advised at least annually, of all proven whistle 
blowing events and their outcomes. 

10. Any doubts?

10.1 If there are any doubts about the contents of this Policy or where there 
are issues that are not adequately covered, then the matter should be 
discussed with the Audit, Risk & Anti-Fraud Manager.



Annex 1

10 November 2016

DETAILS OF WHOM YOU MAY REPORT YOUR WHISTLEBLOWING 
CONCERNS TO ARE AS FOLLOWS: 

Dartford Borough Council:

(a) Graham Harris Managing Director (and Head of Paid Service) or;

(b) Sarah Martin (Strategic Director – Internal Services and Section 151 
Officer)

(c) Sheri Green (Strategic Director – External Services and Monitoring 
Officer) or;

(d) Your Senior Manager; or

(e) Audit, Risk & Anti-Fraud Manager 

(f) Chair of the Audit Board and copied to the Monitoring Officer (in the 
unlikely event of cases relating to the Managing Director only)

(g) (Also see Annex 2 for external contacts below)



Annex 2

11 November 2016

DETAILS OF EXTERNAL CONTACTS TO WHOM YOU MAY REPORT 
YOUR CONCERNS

If you are not satisfied with the response you have received from the Council 
with respect to your concerns and you want to take the matter outside of the 
Council, the following are possible contact points:

 Public Concern at Work on 0207 404 6609 (a charity which gives 
advice about raising concerns)

 External Auditor

 Your local Citizens Advice Bureau

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations

 A relevant voluntary organisation

 The police

 Your trade union representative

 Local Government Ombudsman

 The Comptroller and Auditor General

 The Information Commissioner

 The Health and Safety Executive





AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents the latest Strategic Risk Register which highlights 
the strategic risks facing the Council and the mitigations in place to 
manage these risks. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members approve the updated strategic risk register.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Risk management is a key element of the Council’s overall governance and 
internal control process. The Council seeks to ensure that its arrangements 
for the management of business risk across the organisation are robust and 
fit for purpose.

3.2 Attached at Appendix A is the latest version of the strategic risk register. 
This identifies the most significant strategic risks which could impact on the 
delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives. The register identifies the risks 
per Corporate Plan theme. It shows the risk triggers, the consequences if 
that risk were to materialise, the current risk rating, the mitigations in place 
to manage the risk and the target risk rating.

3.3 The register was last presented to the Audit Board in January 2016. It has 
now been updated to reflect the potential impact of Brexit, new and 
emerging policies and legislation and other known changes.

 
3.4 The register, as presented at Appendix A, has been approved by the 

Management Team. The register will be reviewed by the Management 
Team on a half-yearly basis to ensure it reflects a changing environment 
and that the identified risks remain relevant.

3.5 It is the responsibility of the Audit Board to monitor the Council’s risk 
management framework and to oversee its application. The strategic risk 
register is therefore presented to the Board for Members to be assured that 
there is a sound basis for identifying the Council’s strategic risks and that 
the controls in place are sufficient to mitigate these risks.

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 A robust risk management framework helps to ensure that the most 
significant strategic risks which could impact on the delivery of the 
Corporate Plan objectives are identified and actively managed. 



AUDIT BOARD
17 JANUARY 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment The Strategic Risk Register identifies 

those strategic risks which could impact 
on the delivery of the Corporate Plan 
objectives and shows the mitigations in 
place to manage these risks.

6. Appendices

Appendix A Strategic Risk Register

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 
2014-2017

- Sarah Martin
01322 343402

Strategic 
Director  
(Internal 
Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

STRATEGIC AIM: TO ENSURE THAT REGENERATION IN DARTFORD IS SUSTAINABLE AND OF BENEFIT TO ALL OF OUR COMMUNITIES

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. Improve the quantity and range of jobs in the Borough.

2. Ensure jobs growth and housing delivery are balanced.

3. Improve the economic performance of the Town Centre. 

4. Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ER1 Regeneration of 
Dartford may 
not be achieved

Reduced external 
investment and 
Government 
funding affecting 
development

Failure to deliver 
planned projects
Uncertainty over 
future projects
Unable to attract 
partners/developers
Potential for 
infrastructure to 
deteriorate
Reputational 
damage

   

  
 

 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D
   

IMPACT

Inform Government.
Invitations to Ministers 
etc.
Work through TGKP to 
deliver stronger message.
Work with LEP/KCC.
Marketing with Locate in 
Kent.
Promotion of Dartford.
Additional work with 
Partners and Developers.
Work with new developer 
of Lowfield Street . 
Work with bidders to 
progress the Co-op 
project.
Progress Stone Lodge 
development.
Paramount project.
Work with EDC.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Graham Harris 
(in relation to 
first six 
controls)

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

Marie Kelly-
Stone – 
Valuation (on 
corporate land 
holding 
disposals)

Nick Young 
(project lead 
on Co-op and 
Stone Lodge 
projects)

+



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ER2 Economic 
performance of 
Town Centre 
deteriorates

Reduced 
“resident” 
spending/
investment 
affecting local 
economy
Impact of welfare 
reform on 
residents’ 
spending power

Closure of high 
street shops
Negative impact on 
local jobs
Loss of business 
rates income leads 
to budget pressures

  
  

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Promotion and marketing 
of town centre offer.
Preparation of Town 
Centre Framework.
New housing 
development in and 
around town centre.
Private investment in 
retail and leisure.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Mark Salisbury
(Lewis Kirnon)

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

ER3 Physical 
structure of the 
town centre  
adversely 
affects appeal of 
town centre and 
its regeneration

Lack of 
investment in 
town centre 
physical structure

Shoppers move 
their trade 
elsewhere
More shops close
Negative impact on 
local jobs
Loss of business 
rates income
New investment not 
attracted

 

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Investment in the town 
centre street scene.
External funding sought 
for infrastructure and 
public realm 
improvements.
Work with new developer 
of Lowfield Street.
Preparation of Town 
Centre Framework.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

ER4 Transport 
infrastructure is 
not delivered

Strategic 
Transport 
Investment 
Programme does 
not deliver 
outputs

Negative impact on 
regeneration 
projects

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Complete governance 
and programme 
management 
arrangements working 
with KCC. 
Review programme 
annually.
Agree CIL contribution 
towards STIP
Work with KCC, EDC and 
Highways England to 
ensure implementation of 
STIP schemes.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ER5 Potential for 
Paramount 
proposals to  
have a negative 
impact on our 
communities

Proposed 
Paramount 
scheme does not 
adequately 
address traffic 
management 
issues, housing 
need and 
workforce 
requirement

Increased traffic 
congestion within 
Dartford
Lack of affordable 
housing within 
Borough due to 
increased housing 
prices
Disconnect 
between skills and 
employment 
opportunities 

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work with Developer.
Review proposals.
Investigate impacts.
Assess workforce needs 
and potential locations.
Consider Joint 
Employment Bureau
Training requirements and 
links to schools etc. 

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

ER6 Paramount 
project does not 
happen or is 
delayed

Developer does 
not get required 
financing
Developer no 
longer interested 
in progressing 
project
Long delays in 
planning stages, 
obtaining required 
finance etc.

Lost investment 
and opportunity for 
large scale job 
creation and 
regeneration 
stimulus

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Continue to liaise with 
developers.
Respond promptly to 
requests for 
comments/information by 
developer or NSIP.

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

ER7 Reduced 
economic 
performance of 
local businesses 
due to food 
safety and 
health and 
safety issues

The food safety 
and health and 
safety regulation 
resources are 
reduced

Town centre 
businesses become 
unsafe
Reputational 
damage
Reduced level of 
trade

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Management to ensure 
that inspection resource is 
appropriate to number of 
commercial premises  and 
reactive/proactive 
enforcement work 
required.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Annie Sargent



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ER8 Lack of 
adequate 
parking 
provision to 
support town 
centre

Some of existing 
car parks are 
closed and no 
replacement 
parking provided 
to support town 
centre

Reduced level of 
trade for town 
centre businesses
Reduced car 
parking income
Decline of town 
centre

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Review of car park 
provision.
Progression of Acacia site 
redevelopment which will 
replace some car parking 
provision within the town 
centre that is scheduled to 
be lost.
Review car parking fee 
strategy.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Mark Salisbury
(Lewis 
Boudville)/

Teresa 
Ryszowska 
(leading on 
review of car 
parking 
provision)

Adrian Gowan 
(Tony Phillips 
on Acacia site 
redevelopment

ER9 Third Thames 
crossing located 
in Dartford

Option chosen by 
government for 
third crossing  is 
in Dartford

Increased air 
pollution due to 
traffic congestion
Negative impact on 
health of residents
Reduced resilience 
of road network in 
and around 
Dartford
Impacts on existing 
businesses, 
investment and 
regeneration

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Response sent to 
consultation in support of 
Option C which was the 
option favoured by the 
technical assessment, 
although government 
preferences unclear.
Continued lobbying of 
government and 
Highways England in 
support of Option C.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: HEALTH AND WELL-BEING

STRATEGIC AIM: TO REDUCE OVERALL HEALTH INEQUALITY IN DARTFORD AND TO PROVIDE FOR A RICH AND VARIED QUALITY OF LIFE

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural and leisure activities.

2. Reduce overall health inequalities in the Borough.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HW1 Increased 
health 
inequalities 
within Borough

Inability to target 
key groups 
suffering poorer 
health or/and 
target groups 
don’t engage.
Cuts in Govt. PH 
funding to KCC 
and onward to 
Dartford.
Strategic 
commissioning of 
prevention 
programmes and 
interventions not 
‘joined up’.
Demographic 
change redirects 
health services 
funding

Increased 
pressure on other 
services and 
supporting 
organisations

   

    

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work with partners 
(DGS CCG and Kent 
PH) through DGS 
HWB to identify key 
groups ‘at risk’ of poor 
health. 
JSNA to establish 
impact and 
implications for future 
services.

Work with Kent PH as 
strategic 
commissioners to
develop, coordinate, 
deliver joined-up 
health prevention 
programmes and 
interventions.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

    

IMPACT

Sheri Green



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HW2 Non-delivery of 
health 
prevention 
intervention 
programme

Cut in 
Government 
funding for public 
health.
Short term nature 
of funding impacts 
on stability and 
sustainability of 
health prevention 
intervention 
programme.
Failure of 
commissioning 
approach 

Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing of 
residents put 
pressure on other 
services.
Negative impact 
on acute services
Reputational 
damage.
Increased health 
inequalities within 
borough

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work through new 
partnerships/
developing 
relationships to press 
for longer term 
arrangements.
Public health 
prevention targets 
have been 
incorporated into 
Fairfield management 
contract.
Look at options to 
promote healthy living 
agenda within Acacia 
site.

   

    

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Sheri Green



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/  
CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HW3 Unable to 
increase 
participation in 
sports and 
active leisure 
activities and 
play

Problems in the 
delivery of key 
leisure projects 
e.g.
Acacia site;  Park 
Improvements;
Stone Lodge and 
Rugby Club.
Loss of playing 
fields and/or 
failure to deliver 
playing fields in 
tandem with 
significant new 
developments.
Loss/deterioration 
of children’s 
playgrounds

Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing of 
residents put 
pressure on other 
services
Reputational 
damage

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Review processes in 
place and close 
working relationship 
developed with 
contractors. 
Progress rugby club 
and Acacia projects.
All projects to be 
planned to be 
delivered to time and 
budget.
Targeted 
memberships at 
Fairfield already 
exceeded.
Further promotion to 
encourage 
participation.
Work with EDC to 
ensure planned 
playing fields in EDC 
area are delivered.
Work with developers 
to ensure playing fields 
and play 
areas/playgrounds are 
protected/delivered 
and maintained.
Use of grants to 
encourage provision 
and usage.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

    

IMPACT

Adrian 
Gowan

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HW4 Leisure facilities 
close

Unsustainable 
levels of financial 
loss in Council 
leisure facilities, 
particularly those 
handed over to 
local clubs

Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing of 
residents put 
pressure on other 
services
Reputational 
damage
Loss of revenue

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work is being 
progressed to produce 
the specification for 
the Acacia venue, 
particularly now that 
restrictive covenants 
have been removed.
Strong management 
arrangements have 
been put in place re 
Fairfield and 
membership numbers 
have already 
exceeded target.
Work closely with Judo 
Club, Football Club, 
Cricket Club etc. 
Progress development 
of new Rugby Club.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Adrian 
Gowan

HW5 Darent Valley 
Hospital unable 
to cope with 
increase in 
patient numbers

Increase in 
population due to 
new housing build 
threatens 
services.
Rationalisation of 
NHS estate 
closes 
neighbouring 
facilities further 
increasing 
demand on DVH.

Patients are 
directed to a 
hospital further 
away.
Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing of 
residents.
Pressure on other 
services.

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Support Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS Trust 
and CCG (as 
commissioners of 
services) re 
development of ‘out of 
hospital’ services and 
ensure DAs and DFGs 
used effectively to 
reduce demand and 
‘bed blocking’.
Support CCG and 
EDC in lobbying for 
additional funding.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Sheri Green



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HW6 Shortage of GPs Increase in 
population due to 
housing 
development but 
insufficient 
increase in GPs 
to cope with 
increased 
demand

Negative impact 
on health of 
residents.
Pressure on acute 
services.

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work closely with CCG 
& EDC to understand 
health impact from 
Ebbsfleet Garden City.

Provide for funding 
through planning 
agreements & CIL to 
provide more GP 
facilities.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Sheri Green

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: SAFER COMMUNITIES

STRATEGIC AIM:  TO CREATE A SAFER BOROUGH IN WHICH TO LIVE, WORK AND SOCIALISE

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. To use the Council’s statutory functions to increase public safety in the Borough.

2. To reduce anti-social behaviour.

3. To increase public perception of the Borough as a safe place.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

SC1 Public 
perception of 
increased crime 
levels

Media reporting of 
crime has an 
adverse effect on 
public perception

Increased fear of 
crime within the 
borough
Reputational 
damage

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Promotional materials 
to outline successes.
Work through Elders 
Forum, Parish 
Councils, Residents 
Groups etc.
Regular liaison with 
Media.
Use of CCTV.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Mark 
Salisbury
(Tony 
Henley)

SC2 Unable to 
support ASB 
initiatives

Reduction in 
funding impacts 
on neighbourhood 
police resources 
& sustainability of 
local initiatives to 
counter ASB
Inconsistent and 
changed 
definitions of ASB 
Continual shift in 
public perception 
as to what 
constitutes ASB

Increased levels 
of anti-social 
behaviour
Reputational 
damage

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Information/advice to 
PCC in support of 
continued grant 
funding.
Prioritisation of 
activities, and joined-
up working to 
maximise outcomes 
from budget.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Mark 
Salisbury
(Tony 
Henley)



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

SC3 Reduced public 
safety  levels 
(food and H&S)

The 
Environmental 
Health staffing 
resources are 
reduced to a level 
where public 
safety is reduced 
in the borough.
Lack of legal 
capacity could 
mean prosecution 
is not possible for 
offenders.

Public safety is 
reduced 
Enforcement 
powers 
diminished 
leading to 
reduced public 
safety
Negative publicity
Reputational 
damage

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Management to 
ensure that inspection 
resource is appropriate 
to reactive/proactive 
workload and 
enforcement work 
required.
Discuss potential 
complex cases early 
with Legal team.
Report to management 
team on likely costs 
where known.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Annie 
Sargent



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

STRATEGIC AIM: TO PROMOTE AN ENVIRONMENT WHICH IS ATTRACTIVE, ADAPTED TO CLIMATE CHANGE AND WHICH PROVIDES A REALISTIC CHOICE 
OF TRAVEL OPTIONS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. Reduce carbon emissions

2. Ensure that development in Dartford is sustainable, with high standards of design, layout and energy efficiency.

3. Minimise the amount of waste requiring collection and disposal, and increase the amount of waste which is recycled.

4. Ensure a high quality street scene.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROL

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ES1 Lack of 
sufficient 
transport 
options

Failure to deliver 
transport 
infrastructure 
improvements
Insufficient modal 
shift to 
sustainable 
transport options.
Increasing 
pressures from 
carbon reduction 
demands.

Increasing levels 
of congestion
Potential 
developers put off 
from locating to 
Dartford
Negative impact 
on businesses, 
communities and 
individuals
Negative impact 
on recruitment 
and retention
Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing
Carbon reduction 
demands not met
Reputational 
damage

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Advice to Govt., 
Highways England, 
KCC, Ministers for 
solutions.
Promote Crossrail.
Funding sought for 
transport infrastructure 
improvements for town 
centre.
Implementation of 
town centre transport 
projects.
Feedback given in 
support of Option C for 
third crossing.
Ensure travel plans 
promoting sustainable 
forms of transport are 
implemented for major 
developments.
Work with KCC, EDC 
and GBC to improve 
and extend Fastrack 
network.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROL

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

ES2 Unsustainable 
housing 
developments

Infrastructure 
provision not 
matching housing 
growth

Increased 
congestion
Insufficient 
numbers of 
schools/doctor 
surgeries to 
support new 
housing 

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Seek additional 
funding.
Prioritise delivery 
programme.
Work with partners.
Consider funding 
though planning 
agreements.
Collect and allocate 
CIL.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

ES3 Unable to 
deliver agreed 
waste 
efficiencies 
(more recycling, 
more 
composting, 
less general 
waste)

Insufficient 
support from local 
population  for 
increasing 
recycling quantity 
and quality and 
for waste 
minimisation

Recycling targets 
not met
Increased costs of 
waste disposal

   

 
   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Promotional materials. 
Information and advice 
provided for residents.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

 
   

IMPACT

Dave 
Thomas



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: HOUSING & STRONGER COMMUNITIES

STRATEGIC AIM: TO FACILITATE QUALITY, CHOICE AND DIVERSITY IN THE HOUSING MARKET, TO CREATE STRONG AND SELF RELIANT COMMUNITIES 
AND DELIVER HIGH QUALITY SERVICES TO SERVICE USERS

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. To work towards meeting the housing needs of the Borough.

2. To provide high quality housing services and increasing the percentage of private rented stock which meets the Decent Homes Standard.

3. To promote self-reliant communities.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HS1 Affordable 
housing not 
delivered

Current economic 
instability 
affecting capacity 
of developers to 
deliver affordable 
housing targets.
Implications of the 
Housing and 
Planning Act on 
the Council’s 
ability to deliver 
new affordable 
housing of all 
tenures.

Targets not met
Unable to meet 
housing demand
More Government 
emphasis on 
homes to buy, 
which may be out 
of the financial 
reach of those in 
housing need, 
and this in turn 
could lead to a 
lack of affordable 
rental units

 
 

  

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Seek alternative forms 
of housing delivery.
Ensure the Council is 
flexible when 
considering 
development 
proposals.
Ensure there are 
clauses within 
planning agreements 
to re-assess the 
financial viability of 
developments in later 
phases.
Progress with Council 
New Build programme.

  
  

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

Peter Dosad



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HS2 Lack of 
cohesion 
between 
existing and 
new 
communities 

Existing 
communities not 
benefitting from 
regeneration.
Separate/non-
integrated 
communities 
forming.
Negative impact 
of Brexit on 
community 
cohesion

Lack of 
community 
cohesion
Increased 
tension, levels of 
ASB
Transient 
communities
Lack of 
social/community 
and support 
networks forming

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Liaise with 
stakeholders. Work 
with KCC and Health 
Authority.
Work with EDC.
Work with KCC and 
Arriva re local 
transport.
Ensure affordable 
housing is integrated 
within new 
developments.
Ensure new 
development eats its 
own smoke, through 
funding for required 
infrastructure.

   

 
   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska

Peter Dosad

HS3 Planned 
housing 
improvements 
not delivered

Council contractor 
unable to deliver 
planned housing 
improvement 
works.
Negative impact 
of rent setting 
policy, welfare 
reform changes 
and other 
changes from 
Housing and 
Planning Act on 
HRA business 
plan.

Deteriorating 
housing stock
Unable to 
maintain decent 
homes standard
Tenant 
dissatisfaction
Reputational 
damage

   

   
LI

KE
LI

H
O

O
D

  
  

IMPACT

Establish forward 
programme of works, 
with H&S and DHS 
prioritised and 
monitored.
Establish fall back 
arrangements.
Regular modelling of 
HRA business plan 
taking into account 
changes in national 
housing policy.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

 
 

  

IMPACT

Peter Dosad



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HS4 Increase in 
homelessness

Increase in 
homelessness 
due to economic 
climate and 
potential 
introduction of the 
Homelessness 
Reduction Bill.
Increased 
pressure on 
housing from 
movements into 
the area including 
migrants.
Increase in 
placements by 
London boroughs 
within Dartford

Increase in 
number of 
referrals
Lack of suitable 
temporary 
accommodation.
Increased costs of 
temporary 
accommodation,
Increased need to 
house outside of 
Borough.

  
  

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Prioritise local housing 
needs.
Increase stock through 
conversation of SH 
and new build.
Offer housing options 
advice.
Work with partners to 
reduce worklessness 
and other causes of 
homelessness.
Procure additional 
units for TA.

    

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Peter Dosad

HS5 Failure to 
ensure high 
quality private 
sector housing 
within borough

Private sector 
stock condition 
survey identifies 
higher than 
expected number 
of vulnerable 
households in 
non-decent stock, 
with limited 
investment to 
rectify

Supply of high 
quality private 
sector housing 
does not meet 
demand

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Seek alternative 
funding sources.
Advisory packs etc for 
owners with 
prioritisation of work.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Peter Dosad



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HS6 Failure to deliver 
housing new 
build 
programme

Unable to spend 
141 receipt within 
timetable 
Insufficient HRA 
balances to 
support 
programme due 
to impact of 
Housing and 
Planning Act

141 receipts have 
to be repaid
Supply of housing 
does not meet 
demand
New houses 
targets not met
Reputational 
damage

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Procurement methods 
under continual 
review.
Ensure ready to 
deploy contingency 
option of buying 
houses on the open 
market.
Regular monitoring of 
HRA business plan.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Peter Dosad

HS7 Insufficient 
private housing 
delivery to meet 
local housing 
need

Identified housing 
sites do not come 
forward or are 
delayed

Newly forming 
households 
unable to buy 
homes in the 
Borough.
Move out of the 
Borough – 
breakdown of 
support networks.
Breakdown of 
stable and 
resilient 
communities.
Increased 
pressure on 
Council stock.
Increased costs of 
private sector 
rents.
Increase in 
homelessness 
referrals.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Provide sufficient 
planning permissions.
Work with developers 
and EDC to remove 
barriers to delivery.

   

 
   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

HS8 Insufficient 
school places to 
support housing 
developments

Housing 
development 
happens without 
an associated 
increase in school 
places

Children have to 
travel long 
distances to 
school.
Increased 
pressure on 
school buses.
Increased traffic 
congestion.
Negative impact 
on health and 
wellbeing of 
children.
Negative impact 
on community 
cohesion.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Work with KCC around 
school provision.
Work with EFA on a 
new secondary school 
on the Stone Lodge 
site.
Work with developers 
through planning 
agreements and the 
collection and 
allocation of CIL.
Work with EDC.

   

 
   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Teresa 
Ryszkowska



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

THEME: A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

STRATEGIC AIM: TO PROVIDE HIGH QUALITY SERVICES THAT REFLECT PUBLIC ASPIRATIONS AND DEMONSTRATE IMPROVEMENT

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES:

1. Deliver high quality services, offering value for money and demonstrating a culture of continuous improvement.

2. Inform and consult residents and stakeholders about Council services.

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP1 Effective 
consultation 
does not take 
place with 
service users

Stakeholders do 
not engage in 
consultation
Consultation with 
stakeholders is 
not undertaken or 
is not appropriate
Consultation 
results are not 
considered fully

Mismatch 
between the 
services provided 
and the needs 
and expectations 
of users.
Potential legal 
action against the 
Council for not 
undertaking 
appropriate 
consultation.

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Promotional 
marketing.
Consultation and 
Engagement Strategy 
is embedded.
Consultations carried 
out where required.

   

 
   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Adrian 
Gowan



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP2 Increasing 
financial 
pressure on 
budget 

Reduced 
Government grant 
and fee income
Increased 
demand for 
certain services
Future reliance on 
business rates 
income but no 
control over 
appeals/ 
businesses failing 
or moving out of 
the area

Very difficult 
decisions around 
funding of 
services with 
potential negative 
service changes.
Quality of service 
compromised.
Negative publicity.
Reputational 
damage.

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D  
  

IMPACT

Worst case financial 
profiling and strong 
forecasting.
Set targets for cost 
reduction.
Review if services 
needed and consider 
alternative delivery 
methods.
Redesign service 
delivery.
Seek other sources of 
income.
Work with Corporate 
Fraud Team to 
maximise council tax 
and business rate 
base.
Engagement with 
communities/voluntary 
sector to help maintain 
service provision.
Work with KCC and 
Government 
departments to provide 
the necessary 
infrastructure to 
encourage new 
businesses to come to 
Dartford
Provide support to 
existing businesses to 
encourage them to 
stay in the Borough

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D 
   

IMPACT

Tim Sams

Teresa 
Ryszkowska
(for 
infrastructure 
to support 
businesses)



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP3 Brexit has a 
negative impact 
on the Council’s 
finances

Negative impact 
on financial 
markets;
Brexit could lead 
to a recession

Reduced 
investment 
income;
Recession could 
have negative 
impact on local 
businesses 
leading to a 
reduction in 
business rates 
income;
Recession could 
lead to an 
increase in 
demand for some 
services;
Recession could 
have negative 
impact on other 
Council income 
streams;
Threat of Brexit 
on future EU 
funding for 
projects

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D  
  

IMPACT

Regular monitoring of 
budget position;
Regular monitoring of 
impact of Brexit on top 
20 business rate 
payers;
Identification of 
savings or income 
generating 
opportunities to help 
balance the budget;
Close monitoring of 
treasury management 
position and stability of 
financial institutions

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D   

IMPACT

Sarah Martin

CP4 Incorrect budget 
assumptions 
made around 
business rates

Failure to predict  
income from 
retained business 
rates accurately

Urgent need to 
make budget 
reductions to 
ensure a 
balanced budget.
Quality of service 
compromised.
Reputational 
damage.

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D  
  

IMPACT

Quarterly business 
rate monitoring of year 
to date  position
Prudent budget 
estimates for current 
and future years
Relying on past 
receipts for current 
funding.
Kent business rate 
pool.

 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D   

IMPACT

Tim Sams



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP5 Reduction in 
quality of 
services

Partners not 
meeting agreed 
delivery targets.
Reduction in 
workforce.
Inadequate 
performance 
monitoring.

Dissatisfied 
stakeholders
Reputational 
damage
Negative publicity

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Identify the anticipated 
outcomes.  
Risk assessment.
Monitoring/review.
Workforce succession 
planning.
Consider options for 
closer working with 
partners.
Adequate partnership 
agreements in place.
Contract management 
arrangements in place.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Adrian 
Gowan/

Philippa 
Curtis

CP6 Opportunity 
missed for 
significant 
savings in waste 
service 

The KRP West 
Kent Group fails 
to deliver joint 
working on refuse 
and recycling for 
2019

Anticipated 
savings not 
delivered
Negative impact 
on service 
delivery
Pressure put on 
other services to 
deliver savings

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Regular reviews, 
critical path, timeline, 
Member and Officer 
champions

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Dave 
Thomas

CP7 Increased costs 
for recycling

Central 
Government 
imposes recycling 
infraction charges 
on 
underperforming 
WCAs

Increased 
pressure on 
budgets
Potential 
infraction charges

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Increased recycling 
performance
Work with contractor to 
increase take up of  
garden waste 
collection scheme

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Dave 
Thomas



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP8 Failure or 
threats to IT 
systems

Occurrence of 
factors identified 
as ‘Business 
Risks’, including 
external IT 
security threats

Non delivery of 
priorities or services 
Customer 
dissatisfaction
Negative publicity
Loss of key data

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Regular monitoring 
and amendment of 
arrangements where 
appropriate.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Richard 
James

CP9 Ineffective 
workforce 
succession 
planning

Ageing work 
force, 
Difficulties in 
attracting suitable 
candidates
Reduction in 
workforce 
numbers

Insufficient capacity 
and skills to deliver 
strategic outcomes
Reduced resilience

  
  

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Prepare workforce 
strategy.
Introduce flexible 
working arrangements 
to attract and retain 
staff.
Assess gaps and 
address when 
appointing staff.
Amend delegation 
arrangements.
Prioritise activities. 
Staff training and 
development.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Philippa 
Curtis

Marie Kelly-
Stone (re 
delegations)

CP10 Unable to 
respond to a 
business 
continuity 
incident

Failure to have an 
aligned, 
embedded, 
owned and 
understood 
business 
continuity plan

Major disruption to 
services
Reduction in access 
channels available to 
residents/customers
Vulnerable residents 
put at risk through 
lack of service 
delivery
Negative publicity
Reputational damage

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Ensure business 
continuity plans are up 
to date.
Ensure staff know 
where to find the 
business continuity 
plan for their service.
Ensure arrangements 
are embedded and 
understood.
Staff training provided.
BCP tested regularly.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Sarah Martin



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP11 Failure to 
respond 
effectively to a 
major incident

Inadequate 
emergency plan 
arrangements

Inability to deliver 
key services
Vulnerable 
residents put at 
risk through lack 
of service delivery
Increased short 
term demand for 
some services 
e.g. housing 
Reputational 
damage

Participation in 
Resilience forum.
Regular training 
provided to relevant 
staff.
Emergency plans in 
place.
Regular testing of 
emergency plans.
Ensure staff 
awareness of Counter 
Terrorism and Security 
Act.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Mark 
Salisbury
(Richard 
Cherry)

CP12 Inadequate 
data sharing, 
data security 
and 
information 
management 

Ineffective 
processes or not 
following 
processes for 
sharing of data 
with appropriate 
agencies/
authorities leading 
to data 
safeguarding 
failure

Major reputational 
damage
Theft or loss of 
data
Viral attack
Improper 
disclosure of 
confidential 
information
Improper disposal 
of IT equipment
Legal 
consequences 
and potential fines

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Data sharing 
arrangements kept up 
to date and reviewed 
regularly.
Data protection 
training provided to all 
staff.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Richard 
James/Marie 
Kelly-Stone



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP13 Failure to 
effectively 
manage the 
Council’s 
assets

Insufficient 
investment, 
capacity, 
maintenance and 
inspection of the 
Council’s assets

Deteriorating 
assets
More insurance 
claims
Increased health 
and safety risk
Reduced income 
streams

   

   
 

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Identify roles, 
responsibilities and 
capacity
Prepare an up to date 
asset management 
plan.
Regular inspection of 
properties.
Training provided to 
relevant staff on asset 
management 
responsibilities.

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Asset 
Holding 
Managers

Marie Kelly-
Stone

CP14 Failure to 
comply with 
Health and 
Safety 
legislation

Health & Safety 
procedures not 
robust or not 
followed

Employees 
injured through 
work activity
Council 
prosecuted for 
breaches of 
health & safety 
legislation
Possible 
Corporate 
Manslaughter 
charges due to 
member of public, 
contractor or 
employee killed
Reputational 
damage
Increased 
insurance claims 
and insurance 
premiums

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   
 

IMPACT

Health & Safety Policy 
reviewed regularly.
Training provided to 
staff.
Health & Safety risk 
assessments carried 
out regularly.
Contracts include 
appropriate health & 
safety standards.
Regular maintenance 
and inspection of all 
plant & equipment.
Proper investigation of 
any health & safety 
breaches.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

Annie 
Sargent



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP15 Insufficient 
defences 
against fraud 
and corruption

Fraud or bribery is 
committed against 
the Council due to 
insufficient 
internal controls 
or failure to 
promote an anti-
fraud 
organisational 
culture

Breach of trust
Reputational 
damage
Financial loss
Costly criminal 
proceedings

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

IMPACT

Fully staffed, well 
trained corporate fraud 
team.
Regular internal audit 
of internal controls.
Promotion of anti-fraud 
policy and 
whistleblowing policy.
Annual declarations of 
interest completed.
Effective Audit Board.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

IMPACT

 
Sarah Martin

CP16 Procurement 
and 
commissioning 
of services is 
not carried out 
effectively, 
consistently or 
in accordance 
with law

Procurement 
processes are not 
consistently 
applied across the 
Council
Officers fail to 
follow 
procurement 
law/guidance

Challenge to 
procurement 
decisions
Negative publicity
Increased costs of 
purchasing 
services
Disruption to 
service delivery
Failure to achieve 
value for money 
through 
procurement

   
 

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

        IMPACT

Embedded 
procurement 
processes, including 
dedicated procurement 
framework.
Regular training for 
staff.
Financial checks 
carried out on 
contractors as part of 
procurement process.
Good contract 
management 
processes in place.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

        IMPACT

Tim Sams



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP17 Channel shift 
is not 
embedded 
across the 
Council

Managers do not 
give proper 
consideration as 
to how they can 
push more of their 
services on line
Residents want to 
continue to 
contact the 
Council via the 
telephone, by 
letter or face to 
face
Unable/unwilling 
to fund technology 
necessary to 
facilitate shift

Unable to deliver 
the savings that 
can be generated 
from channel shift
Increased 
pressure on staff
Negative impact 
on service 
delivery

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

              IMPACT

Channel shift 
prioritised at a 
corporate level.
Promotion of services 
available on line.
Review of all council 
literature to promote 
the website.
Networking with other 
councils to understand 
new opportunities for 
improving online 
services and their take 
up.
Review of processes 
within services.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

               IMPACT

Richard 
James

CP18 Failure to 
implement 
arrangements 
for the 
maintenance 
of an accurate 
electoral 
register

Insufficient 
resource to 
support 
requirements 
effectively
Failure 
of/problems with 
electoral 
management 
system

Increased 
pressure on 
elections team
Loss of integrity of 
electoral register
Reduction in 
number of 
residents eligible 
to vote
Increased risk of 
challenge

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D
   

               IMPACT

Promotion of  
requirements to 
residents.
Staff fully trained.
Additional staff 
resources brought in 
where appropriate.
Close working with 
software providers.
Regular review of 
costs against budget.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

      IMPACT

Alan 
Twyman



APPENDIX A

STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER 

Updated October 2016

REF RISK RISK TRIGGER CONSEQUENCE CURRENT RISK 
RATING

MITIGATION/
 CONTROLS

TARGET RISK 
RATING

LEAD 
OFFICER

CP19 Failure to 
implement 
plans for 
elections

Unable to secure 
suitable facilities 
for polling and 
holding election 
counts

Pressure to find 
alternative 
suitable 
accommodation

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

               IMPACT

Fairfield to be set up 
with appropriate 
connections as a base 
for holding election 
counts
Regular dialogue with 
current providers of 
polling station facilities
Review of alternative 
accommodation

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

               IMPACT

Alan 
Twyman

CP20 Risk that not 
all strategic 
risks have 
been captured 
within the 
register

An important risk 
has not been 
highlighted by the 
appropriate 
manager and 
therefore has not 
been reflected in 
the register

A key strategic 
risk is not being 
effectively 
managed
Potential impact 
on service 
delivery/ available 
finances
Reputational 
damage

   

  
  

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

   

               IMPACT

Regular review of the 
strategic risk register.
Regular training to 
managers on risk 
management.

   

   

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D

  
  

               IMPACT

Sarah Martin



AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE  PECUNIARY AND 
PREJUDICIAL  INTERESTS

1. Summary

To report the declarations of disclosable pecuniary and prejudicial interests made 
by members of the Council in accordance with Standing Order 19 for the period 1 
January 2016 to 31 December 2016.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and prejudicial interests 
made by members of the Council since the last report to the Board be noted. 

3. Background and Discussion

In accordance with Standing Order 19 a Member must declare the nature and 
existence of a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest at a 
meeting and withdraw from discussion of that item as required. All such 
declarations must then be reported to the Audit Board annually.

The following declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and prejudicial 
interests have been made by members of the Council since the last report to 
the Board on 13 January 2016: -

 Development Control Board – 14 January 2016

Councillor B Garden declared a prejudicial interest in Item 17 application 
15/01615/TPO as a personal friend of the owner of the land in question and 
withdrew from the meeting, taking no part in the discussion of the application;

Councillor Mrs M I Peters declared a prejudicial interest in Item 17 
application 15/01615/TPO and withdrew from the meeting taking no part in the 
discussion of the application.

 Development Control Board  11 February 2016

Councillor D Mote withdrew from the meeting and took no part in the 
discussion of item 9 on the Agenda – application 15/01554//COU as he had 
predetermined his view on the application.  

 General Assembly of the Council (Budget) – 22 February 2016

The Managing Director declared a personal interest on behalf of all Officers 
present at the meeting in staffing matters referred to in Agenda item 6 
Revenue and Capital Budgets 2016/2017. 



AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

Councillor I D Armitt declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Appendices K (i), (ii) and (iii) of Agenda item 6 as he is an employee of 
Wilmington Parish Council. 

Councillor J Burrell declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is 
a trustee of the Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau which receives 
grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor P Kelly declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is a 
trustee and Chairman of the Unit Management Committee of the Dartford & 
Crayford Sea Cadets who receive grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor J A Kite MBE declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as 
he is a director of Dartford Football Club which receives grant funding from 
the Council. 

Councillor R Lees declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 as he is a 
trustee of Dartford Citizens Advice Bureau which receives grants/funding from 
the Council and also as a trustee of Greenhithe Community Association which 
is a tenant of the Council and receives grants/funding from the Council.

Councillor D J Mote declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in Appendices 
K(i),(ii) and (iii) of Agenda item 6 as his wife is an employee of Stone Parish 
Council. 

Councillor D J Reynolds declared a disclosable pecuniary interest in 
Agenda item 6 as his partner is an employee of Dartford Borough Council. 

Councillor A S Sandhu MBE declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda item 6 
as he is a trustee of the Kent People’s Trust and as Vice-President of Dartford 
Valley Rugby Football Club as they receive grants/funding from the Council.

 Cabinet – 28 July 2016

Councillor J A Kite, MBE declared a prejudicial interest in Agenda Item 7, 
Princes Park Full Size Artificial Turf Pitch Replacement, as he is a Director of 
Dartford Football Club.

 Development Control Board  - 10 November 2016

Councillor B Garden declared a prejudicial interest in item 9 on the Agenda 
– application 16/00850/FUL as he was a close neighbour of the Applicant.  He 
withdrew from the meeting and took no part in the discussion of the 
application.  

 GAC – 12 December 2016 

The Mayor informed Members that the Managing Director had exercised his 
delegated authority, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, to grant a 
dispensation to all Parish/Town Councillors to speak and vote on Agenda Item 



AUDIT BOARD
11 January 2017

13 (Financial Contributions to Parish and Town Councils 2017-18) because 
otherwise so many Members of the Council would have had a prejudicial 
interest in the matter that it would impede the transaction of business. 

 Development Control Board 15 December 2016

Councillor B Garden declared an interest in application 16/00923/FUL as he 
was a near neighbour to the site concerned. He withdrew from the meeting 
and took no part in the discussion of the Application.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Relevant Minutes of meetings 
listed above:
http://committeedmz.dartford.
gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr
=1

 David Hook
(01322) 343430

Member 
Services / 
Monitoring 
Officer

N/A

http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://committeedmz.dartford.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1



	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2016
	6 External Audit Update
	Item 6 Appendix A Final Dartford BC Annual Audit Letter 2015-16
	Item 6 App. B Dartford BC Audit Board Update - December 2016 - Final

	7 External Audit - Certification Work Report 2015/16
	Item 7 Appendix A Dartford BC Certification Letter 2015-16 - Final - 141216

	8 Counter Fraud Team Update Report
	9 Progress Report on Internal Audit Plan 2016/17
	Item 9 Apps. A and B Progress Against Plan -  V1

	10 Review of Internal Audit Recommendations - Progress Report
	Item 10 Apps. A and B Recommendations Progress - V1.2

	11 Audit Reports Issued Since Last Meeting of the Board
	Item 11 App. A Reports Issued Since Last Meeting Appendix V1
	Item 11 App. B Reports Issued Since Last Meeting Appendix V1
	Item 11 App. C-D-E Reports Issued Since Last Meeting V1

	12 Selective Invoice Checks
	13 Future Appointment of External Auditors
	14 Whistleblowing Policy Update 2016
	Item 14 App. A Whistleblowing Policy DBC Updated Nov 2016 V.12

	15 Strategic Risk Register
	Item 15 App. A - Strategic Risks Register updated October 16 for MT

	16 Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary and Prejudicial Interests

